Victim Blaming Helps the State

Some people blamed JKCCS that by highlighting the molestation of the Handwara minor girl we were diverting the attention from the killings which took place in Handwara following the molestation. Editorials were written against us and the very character of the girl was blamed.  Some people suspect that the minor girl had an alleged affair with an army man. Assuming it to be true, for argument’s sake, the fact is that she is a minor and her relation with the army man involves illegality. The girl was held responsible for the killing of five men; even some sections of Hurriyat hesitated to take any stand in this matter. This is the tragedy of the Kashmiri people and success of the state. 

The family of the girl faces problem from many sides like army, police and even society. In the past also, in sexual abuse cases, people have been accusing the victims rather than the perpetrator, which is the army. For example, like one rape case in Handwara some years ago. It is precisely under this situation that the civil society has to take a position based on principles even if taking a position is unpopular. It is pity that sections of media are also carrying the version of the government and are carrying this information through secondary sources without verifying the facts. It is the people who are connected with the ground who only understand the difficulties and reality of the situation. 

The Handwara girl’s case has highlighted many dimensions of militarization like occupation, fear and distress. And how fear and distress are being used successfully by the state and people blame the victims than the perpetrators without understanding realities like the disempowerment of the victims. The Handwara girl is not a convent girl of an elite family but the daughter of a class-four employee, who is essentially blamed for everything whatever happened in Handwara since April 12. Her case would have remained unnoticed, even though her video recording had gone viral on social media, had not JKCCS agitated the matter. We are not sure how much the Handwara family is adamant to fight for justice keeping in view the experiences we have had because fighting the organized state is an unequal battle and notwithstanding the support of civil society, it is quite difficult. 

The campaign started by JKCCS has definitely sent a strong message to the police that they cannot do anything and get away with it. The police will think twice now in recording a statement of a sexually abused victim. The JKCCS is planning to file a suit for damages against the TV channels that televised the illegal “confessional statement” of the girl. Finally, it depends on the family who is already under tremendous pressure from the police, who are mobilizing to ostracize them and put pressure on them to withdraw the case filed against the police. 

What has happened with the Handwara girl is just a symptom of a disease. Since there is no accountability and the law and enforcing agencies enjoy complete impunity nothing much is going to happen. It will end up like another case of sexual abuse and unfortunately, we fear that these cases will likely to continue but we as a civil society group feel stratified that we have done what a respectable civil society group should do to confront the state and come for the rescue of the victim family. We are adamant to provide all support to the family as long as they are not capitulated or purchased.           


HANDWARA MOLESTATION VICTIM SPEAKS OUT IN PRESS CONFERENCE
In police custody I was coerced to absolve the real perpetrator and fix the blame on locals 
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On May 16, the 16-year-old girl alleged molestation by an army man had sparked violence in Handwara, leading to the death of five civilians in police and Army firing. The girl addressed a crowded press conference in Srinagar during which she made a detailed statement how she was molested and the role of police in coercing her to misinform the people about the incident. She demanded the registration of a case against the accused soldier as well as the Handwara Superintendent of Police whose shot her video and subsequently circulated it through social media network.
Last month, the girl had deposed before the Chief Judicial Magistrate, Handwara, that was she not molested by an Armyman, but rather by two boys, including one in school uniform. On May 16, Monday, however, the girl said she had been pressured by the police to make such a statement.
The molestation took place on April 12, following which a video was made public which showed the girl purportedly telling the police that she had not been molested by an Armyman. The girl remained in police’s illegal custody for 27 days. 
During a crowded press conference organized by Jammu Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society (JKCCS) in its office at Srinagar, the girl assisted by her parents spoke in detail about the incident and its aftermath.  In her entire statement the girl sounded confident and more importantly coherent despite being going through tough times. Her statement removed the haze created by the police around the incident. Pertinently, last month the JKCCS office was sealed to prevent media entry inside, as the girl’s mother was supposed to talk to media about the molestation incident.  
The girl’s statement made before massive media presence: 
On April 12, 2016 I was subject to an assault by an army man at a public toilet in Handwara. After I ran out of the bathroom, a crowd gathered. I recognized a policeman named Mohammad Shafi Watali who began to drag me to the Handwara police station. This was against my will as I asked him to allow me to go to my house. But, he did not leave me and he verbally abused me. I was taken directly to the Handwara police station.
I was produced before the Munshi, Khursheed. The behavior of the police personnel towards me as I arrived at the police station was very hostile. The police personnel were abusive and threatening me. I was intimidated.
The Munshi asked my name. When I did not respond, the Munshi reached into my bag and recorded my name from my school books. He also asked me for my father’s name which I provided. The Munshi also took away my phones even though I said I wanted to contact my family members. He refused to return the phones to me.
That around this time, a sub-inspector namely Mohsin stormed the room and verbally abused me. He came into the room and I noticed his name on his nameplate. He spat on me and left.
Later, three masked police men entered the room and asked me what happened. I told them what the army soldier had done to me. They told me, in very harsh tone, that I should not continue with this allegation and that I should instead blame the local boys. One of them even slapped me when I was refusing to change my statement.
Later, SP Handwara, Ghulam Jeelani came and asked to me explain everything. In distress and under pressure, I narrated what had happened while not revealing details regarding the army soldier. Jeelani Sahib then left the room and returned and told me he wanted to record my statement on his mobile phone. He promised not to make it public. Because of the pressure, and in light of being threatened by the policemen on what to say, I repeated my statement on video without putting any blame on the army and without mentioning what the army man had done to me outside the public toilet.
The following morning, a known sub-inspector Shafi alias Moulvi Sahib forcibly took my signatures on blank papers. He also made me write an application seeking police protection and then forced me to sign it, thus spreading a words that my family voluntarily sought police protection.
In the morning of April 16, 2016, at around 9 am. I, my father and aunt were taken again to the Handwara police station.
There, policeman Moulvi Sahib informed me that my video was on the internet. He also told me and my father that we had to give a statement as per his instructions before the court. He pressured me to say that I was born in 1997. He pressured me to stick to the statement I had said in the recorded video. He told us to tell the court that we were staying in a relative’s house. My statement, and that of my father, before the court was therefore not a voluntary statement. When I gave my statement before the court my father was not allowed inside with me.
I was kept against my will in the police station. They made me sign blank papers. I can’t write in Urdu. They made me write in Urdu and took our signature.
The girl was in custody for 27 days and was released only after court intervention.
Her parents said she was pressured into changing her original version.
I was isolated by my classmates, who accused me of “suppressing reality.”
I will fight for my honour and for those who laid down their lives for her honor.

Handwara molestation case developments
· 
· Handwara: Out of 30 FIRs, 28 filed against people
May 01: As many as 30 FIRs have been registered by police in the last month’s public protests in Handwara that left four youngsters and a woman dead.
However, barring two FIRs—one registered against army for killing two youths at Handwara and another against unknown persons in woman’s death— all cases have been registered against the protesters.
Among the 28 FIRs, none has been registered against army or police for killing Arif Mohidin at Natnusa and Jahangir Ahmad Wani at Drugmulla.
In-fact, two cases have been registered against the slain youths along with those who police claims were part of the “violent mob.”
According to the official documents, first of the FIRs was filed on April 12 under registration number 131/2016 under section 302 (murder) against the personnel of army’s 21 RR regarding the killing of the two youngsters.
On the same day, at about 3.30pm, a “counter” FIR (No 132/2016 u/s 307 (attempt to murder)/336/148 —Rioting, armed with deadly weapon —  RPC) was registered on the request of Major/Adjutant of 21 RR camped at Bhagatpora, stating that unruly mob attacked and ransacked their bunker stationed at the main chowk Handwara.
	The FIR also states that the “violent mob” ripped the tricolour off the pole and burnt it down. It also states that the 10 army personnel who were deployed at the post were surrounded and were about “to be lynched by the mob”.
On the same day, yet another  FIR (No.133/2006 u/s 307,148,436, (Mischief by fire) 332 — Voluntarily causing hurt to deter public servant from his duty — RPC) was registered in police station Handwara, stating that the mob at about 3.50pm attacked the government property in Handwara Chowk and made attempts to set on fire the police station Handwara.
	Police filed one more case (FIR No 134/2016 u/s 307 RPC) regarding the death of the woman, Raja Begum, who working in her kitchen garden. It states the woman was shifted to local hospital wherefrom she was removed to SKIMS in Srinagar, where she died next day. Police converted section 307 (attempt to murder) to 302 (murder).
On April 13, police filed one more case (FIR No.135/2016) in connection with stone pelting at paramilitary and police personnel near hospital crossing Handwara.  As per police, several CRPF and police personnel suffered Injuries and certain bunker vehicles of the paramilitary force and police were damaged.
Another case (FIR No. 136/2016 U/s 148,307,332 RPC) was registered regarding an incident at Umar colony Magam Hundwara for attacking police deployed at Magam with stones  and “iron roads”.
A case (FIR No. 137/2016 u/s 148 307/436 RPC) was registered in an incident at Langate when, according to police, the mob attempted to set ablaze the police post.
	One more case (FIR No.138/2016 u/s 149 (unlawful assembly), 307, 332 RPC) was registered in police station Hundwara, “after the paramilitary forces and police deployed at Niagara was attacked by a mob of hundreds and armed with iron rods, axes and lathis.”
When one the two youngsters killed in Handwara, Javaid Ahmad, was being buried at local graveyard at Shallapora Drugmuila, youths attempted to enter into the Artillery Brigade of army at Drugmuila and ransack   it, police said in another case (FIR No. 60/2016 u/s 148, 149, 336, 307, 332, 427 RPC).
“The mob was intercepted by personnel of JKP, JKAP, IRP and CRPF at Matipora Drugmuila and was requested to disperse.   The interception irked the mob and they resorted to violence… Though light cane charging and tear smoke shells were used to disperse them, nevertheless some of  the  protestors sustained injuries amongst them, one protester namely Jehangir Ahmad Wani of Nagri succumbed to injuries. Pertaining to this incident, an FIR No. 60/2016 u/s 148, 149, 336, 307, 332, 427 RPC, was registered In Police Station Kupwara,” police says.
Another case, (FIR No. 61/2016 u/s 148, 336, 427, RPC, 3 PPPD Act) was registered at police station Kupwara when “people turned furious while taking Jehangir’s body and resorted to heavy stone pelting due to which the window panes of police Post Drugmulla, Fire Service Station Drugmulla and Horticulture office Drugmulla were damaged”, police said.
One more case (FIR 139/2016 u/s 307,148,336 RPC) has been registered in connection with “stone pelting” at hospital crossing on April 14.
On the same day, there was another case of “stone pelting” at main chowk Magam and FIR No.140/2016 u/s 307,336,149,148,188was registered in police station Handwara.
	On April 15, three cases (FIRs 141/016 u/s 307,148,149,336,188 RPC, FIR No.142/016 u/s 307/148/149/336/188 RPC and FIR No.27/2016 u/s 307/148/149/336 RPC) were registered at police stations of Handwara and Kralgund for stone pelting at Herpora, Magam and Kralgund in which 13 police and paramilitary forces sustained injuries.
After Friday prayers on same day, the people at Kupwara while “defying the curfew assembled in large numbers at Kupwara town and resorted to pelting stones on police and paramilitary personnel deployed for law and order duties due to which 18 police personnel and 6 CRPF were injured” and a Case (FIR No. 64/20lft u/s 148, 149, 336, 332 RPC) was registered in police station Kupwara.
Another case (FIR No. 65/2016 u/s 148, 149, 307, 336, 332 RPC, 03 PPPD Act) was registered in police station Kupwara when people ‘attacked’ police and CRPF deployments besides “bunkers of Army 160 TA.”
Another case (FIR No. 66/2016 u/s 148, 149, 332, 336, 307 RPC, 03 PPPD Act) was registered in police station Kupwara against protesters who according to officials proceeded towards the army camp at Natnusa and attacked the camp.
“They dismantled the fencing wall and a shed there besides resorted to heavy stone pelting upon the army personnel which constrained the army personnel of 47 RR of Natnussa camp to open fire resultantly some of the protestors sustained bullet injuries, amongst them one of the protestors namely Arif Mohidin Dar son of Gh Mohidln Dar of Awoora, later succumbed to injuries,” police said.
One more case (FIR No, 67/2016 U/s 148, 149,332,336,307RPC,03PPPD Act) has been registered in police station Kupwara when ‘mob’ attacked the police and paramilitary forces Darzipora Kupwara and.
A case (FIR No, 25/2016 u/s 148, 149, 332, 336, 307, 427 RPC) has been filed in police station Lalpora in connection with stone pelting on the police and CRPF.
Two more FIRs (No. 20/2016 u/s 147, 148, 152, 336, 427 RPC and 19/2016 u/s 147, 148, 336, 427 RPC have been registered in police station Sogam and Kralpora protests.
Similarly FIR No.143 (u/s 148/149/188/332/336/427 RPC) and FIR NO.144/2016 U/S 148/149/188/307/332 RPC have been registered in police station Handwara, FIR No. 15/2016/ u/s 147, 148, 336, 427, 323, 188 RPC in police Trehgam and another FIR (No. 26/2016, u/s 147, 148, 149, 336, 323 RPC) in police station Lalpora on April 16.
On April 17, police filed one more case (FIR No 69/2016 u/s 147,148,336,427 RPC, 3PPPD Act) in police station Kupwara regarding stone pelting on police and CRPF.
· Police to Compile Data of ‘Stone Pelters, their Motivators’ in Kupwara
May 01: In wake of recent clashes and subsequent violence in Kupwara district that claimed lives of five civilians including a woman, police authorities Saturday formed a team of three officials to compile the data of stone-pelters, instigators and those who allegedly motivate them to resort to stone pelting in the district.
According to a senior police officer, a three member team is tasked to visit all police stations and get the required data from SHOs.
“The team members will also ascertain and compile action taken report against stone-pelters and their motivators on weekly basis (every Tuesday). The supervisory officers or SHOs who fail to provide data shall be dealt under the law,” said the officer requesting anonymity.
“The trouble mongers would be kept under strict surveillance and stern action under law taken against them for creating law and order situation,” he added.
The team shall start compiling the data of trouble mongers from Monday, according to the official.
Clashes erupted in Handwara tehsil of Kupwara district on April 12, after two youths and a woman were killed in forces’ firing following an alleged molestation bid by army man.
The clashes later spread to other major towns of the district and two more youths were killed in firing and eight others injured even after authorities imposed curfew across the district.
· Army denies any role in filming Handwara girl’s video
May 03:  Army denied any role in creation of the video showing a minor girl exonerating its personnel of the charges of molestation bid at Handwara, an incident that led to Valley-wide outrage and killing of five people at the hands of army and police last month.
In a reply affidavit submitted before the J&K high court, Major KS Suresh (Adjutant) of 21 Rashtriya Rifles battalion also submitted that the video released by army’s PRO was already doing rounds on various social media sites.
“Army in no way was even remotely concerned with the recording of the video. As a matter of caution, when the video was released by the PRO, the face of the girl was obscured to prevent the disclosure of identity of the girl,” Suresh said, claiming that “nothing has been done with malice”.
He said army had no role in girl’s detention, nor was it involved in her molestation.
“A rumour was spread by anti-national elements which led to the attack on the three army posts located in Handwara town and setting on fire one of the posts,” he said.
The army filed the reply affidavit in compliance to a petition filed by girl’s mother, claiming the video, released by army’s spokesman Col N N Joshi, was recorded at the Handwara police station presumably on the direction of the superintendent of police and the SHO.
“The police and army ha ve already displayed ‘mala fide’ in the case. The video and its circulation is against known criminal procedures, violates the privacy and rights of the girl,” Advocate Pervaiz Imroz, representing the girl, told the court in the first hearing, following which the court sought a reply from police and army.
The police have maintained silence about the creation and circulation of the video. While police filed 30 FIRs, 28 against people, in connection with Handwara and Kupwara incidents, none has been registered regarding the circulation of the video.
According to a civil society group, JKCCS, the army has ultimately passed the blame to either the state govern ent or the police.
	“Only investigations will ascertain the role of the army in the creation and circulation of the video and this is precisely what the minor girl and family have prayed for before the High Court,” said a spokesman of the J&K Coalition of Civil Society.
	He said the circulation of an “unlawful recording” would also warrant legal action and the army has admitted to having circulated the video.
“This admission should lead to legal action. Therefore, if not for the creation of the video – which needs to be investigated – the army must necessarily be held accountable for the circulation of this illegal video. Also, the army on one hand relies on the video for absolving itself from the accusation of molestation and at the same time seeks to distance itself from it,” the spokesman said.
The record, he said, clearly reflects the “malice” with which the army and police have treated the minor girl.
“The very act of circulating a video of a minor girl within hours of her detention by the police, with no sensitivity to either the girl or the fact that the video itself is unlawful, is a clear demonstration of the intent of the army, that is, to defame the girl at all costs,” he said.
· Police hasn’t informed R&B Dept about ‘custody’ of its employee
Police should have informed us on priority: CE R&B
May 08: Twenty five days after five civilians were killed by forces in north Kashmir’s  Kupwara district following protests over alleged molestation of a minor girl, the Jammu and Kashmir police has failed to inform the Department of Roads and Buildings about the ‘preventive custody’ of its employee.
The employee is father of the minor girl who is at the centre of controversy in Handwara incident.
Talking to media, Chief Engineer R&B Satish Razdan said the department was expecting an information notice from police that the employee working as a coolie in the department since past many years is in their (police’s) preventive custody.
However, so far police has not sent any notice to the department for his whereabouts which has led R&B department to seek explanation from the employee. 
“I am very clear on this that we have sought our employee’s whereabouts as police has not informed us about him being in preventive custody. There is a procedure in the department and everyone has to follow it,” he said.
Asked whether the department has taken into cognizance the incident and the trauma on family to prevent him from being getting suspended, Razdan said they will take it into the cognizance only after they are officially informed about him.
“Unless the department is informed officially about his whereabouts, the department is bound to seek explanation. We have welfare measures for our employees but till now police has not informed us about him.  It is not only about our employee, if anyone is in custody of police be it preventive or simple custody, police has to inform about it,” he said.
Meanwhile, Deputy Commissioner Kupwara, Kumar Rajiv Ranjan has asked the Executive Engineer Roads and Buildings Department to explain why he ‘acted swiftly’ against the father of the girl allegedly molested by a soldier in Handwara.
The DC vide letter number DCK /PS/2016 -09-706 dated 04-05-2016 has sought explanation from Executive Engineer R&B Division Handwara. “It has come to the notice of undersigned that from last one year, no action has been taken by you against any subordinate officials especially coolies for showing negligence towards their duties by remaining absent and everyone knows that coolies of your jurisdiction remain absent,” reads the letter. 
The letter adds, “But in case of Muhammad Akber Ganie, Road Worker from Handwara you and your office acted swiftly which shows malafide intention on your part to keep the Handwara incident boiling.”
The letter further reads: “In view of the above, you are asked to explain your position within three days as why lodging of FIR /action as warranted under law shall not be initiated against you for your malafide intentions, failing which it shall be presumed that you have nothing to say in your defense.”
In another letter vide number DCK/PS/2016-36/718-23 Dated 04-05-2016, the DC said that the girl’s father has not been suspended as reported in the media. He has also said that Army is part of FIR registered in Handwara killings.
The letter reads that the report sought from Executive Engineer R&B Division Handwara vide number 651-53 dated 04-05-2016 reflects that concerned official has not been put under suspension.
Meanwhile, the Handwara minor girl's ‘illegal detention’ case is listed for Monday before the Division Bench of Srinagar High Court.
· Army defends Govt employee suspended over stone-pelting charge
May 13: The government has charge-sheeted employees for the incidents of stone pelting after the civilian killings in Handwara in border district of Kupwara even in the area where army maintains that not even a single stone was hurled while the accused employees assert that they were sitting at their homes during the protests.
The Commanding Officer of 18 RR has reported that no stone pelting incident took place in Khurhama area, where from an employee, Mohammad Ashraf Shah, was suspended by Deputy Commissioner Kupwara. 
Shah, 49, is working as a teacher in Varnaw school in Khurhama and also leads the prayers in a local mosque. 
In the suspension order, government has noted that the employee unfurled the green flag and in the charge-sheet he has been accused by police of  provoking the youth for stone pelting.
The government has suspended seven employees in Kupwara for being associated with opposition NC and Hurriyat and for provoking youth for indulging in stone pelting and following reports that some `` employees were associated with NC and Hurriyat.
Some of the employees have told the Inquiry Officer, Qazi Irfan, probing the Handwara killings that they were sitting at home and had no role in the incidents of stone pelting.
Irfan confirmed of having received Army version that no stone pelting was reported from Khurhama. 
“We have recorded the statement of Army and employees and the inquiry report will be submitted to the government in a week’s time,” he said.
However, the suspended employee Shah said the government action was uncalled for. 
“How can the government accuse an employee of being involved in a crime when it has not taken place?  I lead prayers in a local mosque and they have told me that I have spoken against the government during the religious sermons,’’ he said.
Another employee Ghulam Rasool Shiekh, 58, of Lalpora Lolab, said the allegations against him are baseless. 
“Not a single case has ever been registered against me by police. During my entire service as a lecturer in education department, I have never faced any complaint of wrong doing,” he said.
Shiekh said he lives in Tilwanpora and the stone pelting was reported near the main market in Lalpora and his house is at least two kilometers away from the place. 
“I was sitting at home when the protests had erupted,” he said.

Mystery shrouds Handwara youth’s killing

May 25: A 22-year-old youth was killed under mysterious circumstances at Wadar Payeen village here in Kupwara district, triggering panic in the area.
According to the relatives of the deceased, the body of Liyakat Ali Joo son of Syed Joo of Nagni Wadar Payeen, who was working as a porter with 21 RR of the army, was found this morning half a kilometer away from his home.
“At around 5 AM on May 25 we heard some six gunshots and at about 5:30 AM we were told that Liyakat’s body is lying in nearby forests,” said local residents.  
The incident triggered panic in the area as villagers were not ready to speak openly about the death. 
Maternal brother of the deceased, Mohamad Abdullah Chatwal, who is a political leader, talking to media, expressed surprise that a porter who goes around with army soldiers could be so easily killed by unknown persons. “Liyaqat had gone with the army on May 24, Tuesday morning, but did not return home that day. We thought he was still with the army. On Wednesday morning, we heard some gunshots from nearby forests and later the same army brought his body home. We suspect the army killed him,” Chatwal said.
Chatwal said that he had informed SSP Handwara Gulam Jeelani about this suspicion. Jeelani visited the spot on May 25 to investigate the killing.
 “My brother was working with army as a porter and had gone with them two days ago. Today morning he was killed,” Liyakat’s sister alleged.
Sobbing Syed Joo, the aged father of Liyakat, said, “We know one thing that he had gone to army camp to work there and today his body reached home.” 
	SHO Zachaldara, Masroor Ahmad, said the youth was killed by militants and an FIR has been registered in this connection. 
Pertinently, the residential house of the deceased is just 300 yards from the Wadar Payeen army camp.
Liyakat is survived by his aged parents, two brothers, 2-year-old son and 6-month pregnant wife besides a sister.
Porter’s death: some unanswered questions:
The army’s account of the circumstances leading to the death of a porter, Liaqat Ali, in Handwara on Wednesday has raised many a question.
This is the army’s version of the story:
“On the intervening night of 24/25 May 2016, a joint search operation was undertaken by the army and JKP, based on the specific intelligence inputs regarding movement of some terrorists in the area of Watsar forest about 12 KM west of Handwara. Liaquat Ali of Nagni, Wadar Payeen, village, who has been working as a porter with the army, accompanied the search party
At about five AM on 25 May, the column of security forces came under fire which was immediately retaliated. After a brief exchange of fire, the area was searched during which Liaqat Ali was found injured. After administrating immediate first aid, the individual was evacuated by foot to the Handwara-Bunawadar road head but he had unfortunately succumbed to the injuries. His body was handed over to police at 6:30 AM.
An inquiry has been instituted to establish in detail the possible circumstances leading to the death of Liaquat Ali. Since the deceased was working with the army, we are committed to providing all possible assistance including authorised entitlements to his family.”
Media asked defence spokesman Colonel NN Joshi a few questions:
Was the porter at the forefront of the army team that was searching for “terrorists” because since he had been hit by six bullets, it appears that he took the brunt of the attack?
Was the porter armed? Was he wearing a bullet-proof vest because during a search operation against militants, there are high chances of being hit?
If the attack had been so sudden that a man took six bullets, was any other soldier injured? Since reports do not mention injury to soldiers, why was only the porter killed?	
Was the porter wearing army fatigues or was he in civvies? For what purpose was he part of the operation?
Was there any other porter accompanying the army?
Colonel Joshi replied, “I cannot reveal anything at this moment and enquiry has been set up to investigate into the cause of his death.”
Ali is survived by his pregnant wife and one-year-old son. His cousin Mohamad Abdullah Chatwal, who is a political leader, has said that he suspects the army killed him.

Residents believes Saraibala ‘gunfight’ was fake till not probed impartially

May 23: The killing of two youth by Special Operation Group (SOG) of Police in Sariabala area of Srinagar’s uptown whom the police claimed as militants was questioned by the locals.  The family with whom the slain youths were putting up contested the police version. The locals said till the gunfight is not probed impartially, it is fake encounter for them. One of the slain youth was identified by police as Saifulah of Jaish-e-Mohammad militant outfit. 
Raja Begum, the widow of Ghulam Muhammad Hakeem—the family where the two youth were residing on rent—said “the killed youth were not militants, but students who would speak in Kashmiri and carried only books and clothes with them.”
“The two youth were students. They used to leave for college every morning,” Begum said.
The family said the cops of Special Operation Group of J&K Police entered their house on late May 23 evening. 
“We were having dinner. They (the SOG men) asked us come out and show us the way to up-stairs,” the family members said. “When the SOG men went upstairs, there was sudden firing. Both the students were arrested first and later killed. One of them was killed in room and the other on road,” the family said.
When locals of Sariabala vicinity were contacted by The Informative Missive they said the encounter apparently was fake, and there was no crossfire at all. “On May 23 evening, we heard few gunshots that followed with some noise. When we came out to see what has happen, we saw huge contingent of Special Operation Group of Police (SOG). Before we could properly understand what has happened we heard two persons were killed,” the locals said.
They further said, “One of the boys was brought down from the house, where he was living as a tenant from few days, and shot dead on the street. The other was already shot dead in the house. The police claim that they had killed militants in an encounter was hard to believe. We heard few gunshots and no exchange of fire whatsoever”.    
	The locals said they don’t know exactly who these two boys were but they are sure that there was no exchange of fire between SOG men and the boys. “There was no basis of the police encounter claim. Clearly, it was a fake encounter and merits an impartial probe to establish the veracity of the police came. As long as that will not happen, it is a fake encounter for the people of Sariabala who had seen a boy was dragged out of the house and killed in cold blood,” the locals who wished not to be named stated. 
Both the alleged militants were laid to rest in Uri area of north Kashmir Baramulla district, police said.

Qasim Khaar family talks about Khaar’s role

Mohammad Qasim alias Qasim Khaar son of Mohammad Ibrahim of Nowgam Sumbal in north Kashmir is one of the most feared names in Kashmir valley. He had reached the heights of notoriety in 90s for crushing the dissent in Kashmir. Khaar, a former militant turned Ikhwani helped the state in a major way to neutralize militancy in Bandipora district in north Kashmir. At the time of The Informative Missive researcher’s visit to his house he was not present and was in jail for some community feud. However, the researcher managed to talk to his wife Noor Jahan, a Bengali, and his son.  Below is what has been shared with The Informative Missive. 
Mohammad Qasim alias Qasim Khaar figured in the most notorious Ikhwani commanders in 90s who was on forefront of anti-militancy operation. Qasim Khaar hails from Sumbal area of Bandipora which was the main center of Ikhwan. Most of the notorious Ikhwanis belongs to this district. Before turning to Ikhwan anti-militancy brigade Qasim was merely a carpet weaver. Qasim joined militancy in 1989 when youth across valley were joining the militancy. He was an active member of militant outfit Students Liberation Front [SLF], a wing of Jammu and Kashmir Liberation Front.	
With militancy on rise the militant groups started clashing with each other for domination. And in 1989, one day, Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) militants raided Qasim’s house on the pretext that he possessed a pistol. Qasim was not at home. This raid came as a shock to his family. How come a militant group raiding the house of other militant of different organization for recovering pistol. During the raid Qasim’s house was ransacked by the HM cadres. The quintals of rice was spoiled by mixing it with pepper. 	
In 1990, one of Qasim’s friend and comrade Mohammad Shafi from Dab area of Ganderbal came to Qasim’s house alleged that HM militants had raped his sister. Shafi further alleged that he managed to escape the HM cordon of his house after snatching one AK 47 rifle and some ammunition from them. 
Qasim kept Shafi at his house, then shortly militants came to Qasim’s house telling him to collect slaughtered sheep fleece from the people on Eid. It was a norm that militants used to collect the sacrificial animals skin from people. 
Later when HM militants came to know that Qasim has sheltered Shafi, then again raided his house. Neither Qasim nor Shafi was in the house. Then militants asked Qasim’s father to ask Qasim to returned back the rifle taken away by Shafi.   They even threatened Qasim’s family to ask Qasim to produce himself before the HM command. 
Knowing that HM militants were looking for them Qasim along with his two friends and comrades Ama of Sultanpora, Pattan (now living on Airport Road) and Mohammad Shafi were in hiding. 
Then few days later in September 1990, Qasim chose a different path. He surrendered. He got a CRPF battalion [100 men] deployed around his house. It was then he joined counterinsurgency militia Ikhwani along with his associates Ama and Shafi. 
The CRPF deployment around Qasim’s house for his protection was to be the first military installation in the Nowgam village of Sumbal. From September 1990 to 1994 CRPF guarded his house, then BSF for some time and then in 1995 CRPF again.  
After 6 months militant attacked the CRPF deployed around Qasim’s house which has literally turned into a Camp. The bullets were showered and a rockets were also launched towards the house-cum-camp. In the shootout one militant got killed and few CRPF personnel were injured.  
In 1992 militants abducted 1. Ali Mohammad  2. Ghulam Mohammad Ahanger  3. Abdul Rashid Ahangar (brothers of Qas im 4. Abdul Ahad Marazi  5. Ali Mohammad Dogra S/o: Ghulam Mohammad Dogra, resident of Gund, Nowgam.  Ali Mohammad Dogra and Abdul Ahad Marazi were operating with Qasim.  They were detained for one month and 6 days at Lar, Ganderbal.  Thereafter militants killed Ghulam Mohammad Ahanger, Abdul Ahad Marazi and Ghulam Mohammad Dogra at Lar, Ganderbal while Ali Mohammad Ahangar and  Abdul Rashid Ahanger were released.  Ali Mohammad Ahangar witnessed the killings.  Ali Mohammad and Abdul Rashid were released because they had treated the dead body of the militant, killed in retaliation when Qasim’s house was attacked, decently and performed religious rituals.
 Abdul Rashid Ahanger was abducted again by militants and killed at Nowgam Market in 1993. Qasim has four brothers two of them were killed.  One second uncle of Qasim namely Ghulam Hussain Ahanger was also killed by militants in front of Qasim’s father. 
Till 1996 Qasim worked with CRPF. He worked with Army as well.  He was given 2000 to 4000 per month as salary by CRPF. During this tenure he got recovered more than 900 guns, grenades and rocket launchers. As he himself was a militant he knew well the locations of militant hideouts.  He also had sources at ground. He never wore military fatigue while conducting the anti-militancy operations.  In 1996 Qasim contested the election which Kuka Parray, another notorious Ikhwani now dead, won with some margin.  Kuka Parray got around 13000 votes where as Qasim got around 9750 votes.  Qasim borrowed 40,000 rupees from his uncle and his brother Ali Mohammad arranged 50,000 rupees for election campaign.  
After 1996 Qasim used work as farmer on his agricultural land measuring six kanals to run his family from.  Qasim had sold 15 kanals of land before as he and his family were scared of going to the fields.  
As it was difficult for Qasim to marry a local girl he married with a Bengali woman Noor Jehan. They have now six daughters and three sons.  Out of six daughters two are married.  Qasim’s elder son is 21 years old and does labor work.  Due to fear factor none of his children could go out of village for higher education.   Even the children are still scared of going to Srinagar or other places. The father of Qasim was working in Block Dept. but due to fear he quit his job.  He was a daily wager hence were not entitled to any post-retirement pension.  
Qasim himself is an 8th standard pass.  Qasim was never comfortable with doing government job which he could have managed as he had worked for the state.  Qasim thoughts if he will do some government job he will be transferred to some other place and his family will be unsafe.   There is also fear factor associated to it because he doesn’t feel safe in going out of village.  Qasim’s wife is an Asha (social) worker and earns 1000 per month.  She had taken loan of 2000 rupees with which she constructed a shop outside house.  Qasim and his son are running the shop.  One of the daughters of Qasim does tailoring work.  
Qasim has one platoon of CRPF for security.  Qasim has left few rooms for them within his house.  He is not receiving any rent from CRPF for past 25 years.  When he spoke to the CRPF officials about the rent he was told that it is for his security so no rent will be paid to him.  Qasim and his family are comfortable with CRPF, they trust them. Qasim does not trust J&K Police.  
Qasim was operating with CRPF Head Quarters Humhama.  There are two different cases of sectarian clash against him and in both cases FIR is registered u/s 307.
Statement of a CRPF man guarding Qasim house while the Informative Missive researched was waiting outside Khaar’s house. While engaging him in talking he shared the following information. 
Government of is spending 25-30 lac on him as a platoon comprising 25-35 CRPF personnel are providing security to him 24*7.	
He was inspector with the CRPF before contesting elections but once he went into politics he quit the job.  
 		He has done great job in Bandipora by neutralizing militants.  Even a big force could not do the job what he has done so the government should also take care of him.  
He facilitated recovery of 1200 guns and other ammunitions including grenades and pistols.       

International Week of the Disappeared
THIRD DECADE OF STRUGGLE AGAINST ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCES IN JAMMU AND KASHMIR
APDP recommits to struggle and declares new focus for 2016

Every year the last week of the month of May is recognized as the International Week of the Disappeared. This week provides an opportunity to commemorate the disappeared, and acknowledge the struggle of their families. It is also an occasion to recommit to the fundamental right not to be disappeared, the right to know the truth and the right to justice and reparation. It is an occasion to continue to demand that governments sign, ratify and implement the International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance. The Convention presently has 95 signatories and 52 State parties and has come into force on 23 December 2010. Recently, after Philippines, the government of Thailand ratified the convention and has decided to enact a law criminalizing enforced disappearances.
The Indian State continues to remain in denial of the ongoing international movement against enforced disappearances. It has signed but not ratified the Convention against disappearances. Following the commission of widespread and systematic enforced disappearances, the Indian State has chosen to protect itself and its own forces by disregarding the very existence of the crime itself. APDP has documented 1536 of enforced disappearances. According to conservative estimates, and extrapolating from existing documentation, more than 8000 people have been subjected to enforced disappearances in Jammu and Kashmir since 1989. There are 7000+ unmarked and mass graves in Jammu and Kashmir.
Despite a consistent campaign in Jammu and Kashmir against enforced disappearances for 22 years, no action whatsoever has been taken. No Commission of Inquiry as demanded was set up, no investigations and no prosecutions have been made due to continued legal impunity in Jammu and Kashmir. The connected issue of unmarked and mass graves in Jammu and Kashmir, which was recognized by the State Human Rights Commission [SHRC] in 2011 [2156 graves in three districts of North Kashmir], and the European Parliament in its resolution in July 2008, has not been addressed by the government. The government has refused to accept the recommendations of SHRC for investigations into the unmarked and mass graves. Ongoing complaints by APDP of 3844 unmarked and mass graves in Poonch and Rajouri districts, and 507 cases of enforced disappearances from Baramulla and Bandipora, and 132 cases of enforced disappearance from Banihal, remain pending as the SHRC has become defunct. This is in addition to numerous other complaints in individual cases of enforced disappearances. While the government is constantly concerned with schemes under the garb of “development” and “social welfare”, the issue of enforced disappearances is completely ignored.
Since 2012, through reports and campaigns, APDP has begun concerted work on identifying and shaming State personnel accused of crimes including enforced disappearances. Most recently, in September 2015, APDP was part of a report titled “Structures of Violence…” wherein 333 crimes were analyzed in which 972 alleged perpetrators were identified. Of these 333 crimes, 73 were related to enforced disappearance. Most importantly, this report specifically named and shamed those accused of enforced disappearance. This is an important exercise not just in the legal struggle against enforced disappearance but also as a part of a larger social movement against this crime. While the families of the disappeared spend every day remembering the disappeared, the State actors are moving on with their lives with no sense of shame, guilt or accountability. A part of this important report was also the identifying of 189 accused government gunmen / counter-insurgency forces known as the Ikhwans. Many of these gunmen, never formally associated with but directly controlled, funded and armed by the armed forces, continue to remain in our society despite being accused of crimes including enforced disappearance. One example is that of Ikhwani Rasheed Khan, a commander in the Kupwara area, responsible for reportedly more than scores of killings/disappearances and widespread extortion. Continuing from its past work, APDP today pledges to focus this year on these government gunmen responsible for the crime of enforced disappearance, raise awareness in our society about the role of these gunmen, and continue to support the legal struggles of families before the various courts and also seeking moral accountability from government sponsored gunmen.
The campaign on the Ikhwan is an attempt to turn the spotlight on the crime of enforced disappearance itself and the everyday violence that the families of disappeared face, including by having to live with those responsible for disappearing their loved ones.
Since the federal and state governments of J&K have ignored the plight of more two hundred thousand relatives of the disappeared people, therefore it is the responsibility of international community to intervene and hold the government of India, a claimant for permanent in the UN Security Council, accountable for more than 8000 enforced disappearances in J&K.

APDP Protest against notorious killer Ikhwanis 

May 28: Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) registered a protest against the two Ikhawnis who had reached the zenith of notoriety in 90s. Kupwara’s Rashid Khan and Sonawari’s Rashid Billa were involved in killings and atrocities and disappearing people.  
Carrying placards and banners displaying faces of the Rashid duo, the protesters—traditionally seeking the whereabouts of their disappeared ones—for the day sought the action against the former government militia commanders.
The protestors said that Rashid Khan is responsible for extortion, torture, enforced disappearances and killings in Kupwara while as Rashid Billa stands accused for Sadrakoot massacre.
Making a semicircle around a big canvas with an image symbolising a disappeared person on it, the protesters demanded swift action against the duo. The canvas carried the names of all disappeared persons.
One of the protestors, Raja Begum, 45, mother of five girls, hailing from Pattan said that her husband Abdul Ahad War left home in 1999 for Srinagar but never returned back. “I am still tracing him.”
The protestors who had assembled in press colony wore white APDP headbands.
The relatives of Sadrakoot massacre were part of the protest demonstrating a banner asking for punishment to the culprits responsible for bloodshed in Sadrakoot on October 5, 1996.
APDP blames Indian state for not taking any action against the alleged culprits. It claims that they have identified many perpetrators of enforced disappearances and killings. 
Ghulam Qadir, whose four relatives were killed in Saderkoot massacre, while talking to The Informative Missive said, “Rashid Billa, Saderkoot massacre main perpetrator, against whom a case is going on in the court, is absconding for months now. Police is helping him to evade the court. Undoubtedly, he enjoys patronage from police high-ups”.
“Police is also claiming that on the orders of the court his property has been seized, however, that fact is it is an attempt to hoodwink the court and the survivors. If police patronage has not been there he could have been arrested months ago,” Ghulam Qadir complained. 
APDP members in unisons said that the association will continue its fight against oppression and will not rest till the perpetrators be brought to justice.  
The APDP members also said that they are working on identifying more perpetrators responsible for disappearing people. 



Family of disappeared student says police have made their ‘life hell’

May 11: The family of a disappeared student from Sopore area of Baramulla district alleged that adverse police reports have “made (their) life a hell”.
Feroz Ahmad Lone, then 20 and a student, son of Abdul Majeed Lone, resident of Wadoora Sopore, was picked up by RR on May 12, 2002 at Karan Nagar along with two of his brothers, Irshad Lone and Ishtiaq Lone, when he was going to SMHS Hospital to treat his injuries caused by an IED blast in 2001 at Tujjar Sharief.
His mother, Saada Begum, said army personnel picked her three sons over alleged militant links and detained them at Magam camp. While Irshad and Ishtiaq were released the next day, Feroz was kept in detention. “Since then, we don’t know Feroz’s whereabouts. The forces subjected him to involuntary disappearance in custody,” she said.
She said that as the family was grappling with this tragedy, the police also started to “humiliate and harass” them. “About five years ago, my daughter got a job in the education department but she was denied the same because of an adverse police report,” Saada said.
“Recently, the police refused to issue a No Objection Certificate (NOC) in favour of my sons, Irshad and Ishtiaq, who wanted to establish a trust. First they arrested my son and subjected him to disappearance in custody and now they are harassing my other sons. Our lives have been turned into hell,” she lamented.

JKCCS Press statements

Every month JKCCS issue press statement on varied issues ranging from human rights violations to courts proceedings to political developments. This month JKCCS issued statements on Handwara molestation case, which had become a high-profile case due to JKCCS campaign. Below are the statements. 
· Army lays the blame on Jammu Kashmir Police
(Handwara minor girl case)
Press release
3 May 2016
Today, Union of India (UOI) and the army, through Major KS Suresh of 21 Rashtriya Rifles, submitted their reply to the petition filed on behalf of the family of the Handwara minor girl by her mother, the petitioner. The High Court petition, to be heard in the coming days by the Division Bench, accuses the Handwara police of holding the minor girl and family in unlawful police custody and seeks investigations against the army and police for their role in the creation and circulation of the video.
Major KS Suresh in the reply affidavit denies any army role in the detention of the minor girl, and states that the army was not involved in the creation of the video of the girl and “only released the video which was already existing on various social media”. Further, that “nothing has been done by the respondents with malice”. First, as seen in some other cases, the army ultimately passes on the blame to either the Jammu Kashmir government or the police and absolves itself of all responsibility. Second, it is only investigations that will ascertain the role of the army in the creation and circulation of the video and this is precisely what the minor girl and family have prayed for before the High Court. Third, the circulation of an unlawful recorded video would also warrant legal action. The army has admitted that they circulated the video and this admission should lead to legal action. Therefore, if not for the creation of the video – which needs to be investigated – the army must necessarily be held accountable for the circulation of this illegal video. Also, the army on one hand relies on the video for absolving itself from the accusation of molestation and at the same time seeks to distance itself from it. Finally, the record clearly reflects the “malice” with which the army and police have treated the minor girl. The very act of circulating a video of a minor girl within hours of her detention by the police, with no sensitivity to either the girl or the fact that the video itself is unlawful, is a clear demonstration of the intent of the army i.e. to defame the girl at all costs.
The case in the High Court was supposed to be listed within a week in the Division Bench, but due to non-availability of the judges and also the vacation of the Chief Justice, it is unclear when the case will be listed next, as it is only the Chief Justice, who can constitute the Division Bench.
· Psy-Ops through media serving State interests
5 May 2016
On 4 May 2016, Greater Kashmir carried a story by reporter Shabir Ibn Yousuf wherein Executive Engineer, R&B Division, Handwara is quoted as stating that the father of the Handwara minor girl, working as a coolie in the department, has been “suspended” due to his “unauthorized absence”. The immediate fall out of this story was some prominent MLA’s approaching the family to pressurize them to seek political favour and assistance. Further, on 4 May 2016 itself, Deputy Commissioner, Kupwara sought an explanation from the Executive Engineer for his actions taken with “malafide intentions” [Communication no.: DCK/PS/2016/(05)/706].
	The Greater Kashmir story, based on available information and documents, appears to be false and motivated.
	Today, JKCCS was able to access the communication sent by the Executive Engineer, R&B Division, Handwara in response to the explanation sought by the DC Kupwara, which states that the father of the minor girl has not been suspended. Further, the document states that Greater Kashmir has wrongly published the news regarding the suspension, but noted that the employee is not attending duties since 14 April 2016 due to “domestic problems” [Communication no.: 651-53]. Perusing the response of the Executive Engineer, the DC Kupwara has issued an order to Greater Kashmir on 4 May 2016, specifying that the story of suspension was false as was another story published by Greater Kashmir relating to the killings at Handwara [Communication no.: DCK/PS/2016/36/718-23]. The Editor has been asked to take action regarding these false reports and make necessary corrigendum on the front page of the paper.
	Right from 12 April 2016 we have observed irresponsible statements and actions from various parties – whether the State or non-State, including the media. These irresponsible statements and stories have been made with no concern for the minor girl, her family or the fact that the case is being heard by the High Court. This has served the interests of the police and the army that have thus far caged the minor girl and spread rumors with the express intent of defaming the girl and her family.
	The entire episode regarding the status of the employment/suspension of the father of the minor girl requires immediate and comprehensive investigations. Greater Kashmir, the reporter involved, and the officials of R&B department concerned with this matter must be investigated for their role that has resulted in confusion, and increased pressure and trauma for the family and allowed vested political interests access to the minor girl and their family. This reflects how armed forces, police and politicians use media for perpetrating injustice and use media for pys-ops against the victims of the State oppression.
	For the further perusal of media, the order of the DC Kupwara to Greater Kashmir and the communication of the Executive Engineer R&B Handwara are annexed.
· High Court Orders Handwara Minor Girl to be Free 
12 May 2016
Today, the Division Bench of the High Court of Jammu and Kashmir announced its decision on the Habeas Corpus petition regarding the illegal detention of the Handwara minor girl in which it was ordered that the girl and her family are free to go anywhere. This order was based on the affidavits submitted by the father and the mother of the Handwara minor girl to the High Court on its directions. In the affidavits the parents of the minor girl had mentioned that they are under the wrongful custody of the Jammu and Kashmir Police and that they have never voluntarily sought any police protection and that they want this police custody to end.
Initially on 10th May, Police had informed the family of the minor girl that they are free, but yesterday when the minor girl alongwith her parents reached Srinagar to the office of JKCCS, the police had already started harassing the relatives of the minor girl to ascertain their whereabouts. Subsequently, the police took the minor girl and her family back to Zachaldara, Handwara and re-detained them.
After today's order by the High Court, the Police should end illegal confinement of the Handwara minor girl and end all overt and covert means of surveillance and restrictions. 

Civilian shot dead in Kulgam

May 16: Unidentified gunmen shot dead a 36-year-old carpenter in Qaimoh area of south Kashmir’s Kulgam district today. 
	A police official from the area confirmed the killing of Manzoor Ahmad Pala, son of Abdul Gani of Batpora-Wanpora village. 
	“He was picked up from his place of work, dragged outside and fired multiple times,” the police official said, adding that he succumbed to his injuries on spot. He told media that the incident was reported at around 5:30 pm.
	The slain man’s sister is a Panchayat member associated with the ruling Peoples Democratic Party (PDP), which the police says is an unlikely reason behind the killing.
	Police later conducted medio-legal formalities after which the body was handed over to the family for last rites. 

Peerbagh murder case: Forensic report nails police story

May 17: Much to the chagrin of police, the forensic report of the murder of an engineering student nailed several claims of the police investigators and raised doubts on the intent of police probe and its direction.
On May 17, after prolonged delay, police presented the forensic laboratory report before a court in Budgam along-with a supplementary charge sheet in the murder case of 21-year-old engineering student Owais Bashir Malik, whose body was found near Humhama railway track in January this year.
“The nature of the injury doesn’t suggest that the body of Owais was bitten by any dog or rodent. Owais has died of fatal bleeding and there was severe damage to his liver and lungs,” the 8-page forensic report, a copy of which media has obtained, says.
The report refutes the police claim that Owais’s end came because of a fatal hit on his head.
“There is an internal injury on the head and it’s not because he has been repeatedly kicked. The injury has happened by being hit by a strong object like hammer or brick or something very strong,” a forensic expert, who was part of compiling the much-awaited report, said.
Malik had gone missing on January 12 evening and his body was recovered on the morning of January 14 in a mutilated state by the side of the railway track near Humhama in Budgam district.
While police claimed that Owais died a few hours before his body was recovered, the forensic report indicates that his end has come barely eight hours after he went missing on January 12 evening.
“Owais died more than 8 hours after he went missing,” the expert said.
	The report also nails police’s claims that the body was eaten by dogs and bone amputation happened due to dragging of the body. The report has not mentioned any involvement of dogs in the case.
“Nature of the injury and fractures around the shoulder do not suggest that,” the report says. “The deceased’s left ear has been missing from the base margin. And the ear has been chopped off. The right ear has also irregular cuts,” reads the report
The report also said that skin of the chest and neck was missing and there were clean cuts on that area.
“This indicates that a sharp weapon has been used (for the killing)”, the report prepared that involved investigations from radiology and histopathology departments, reads.
The forensic experts have found exposed ribs fractured at multiple places. Precisely, eight upper ribs were found to be fractured, exposing lungs and heart. The right lobe of the liver was found to be crushed.
The forensic report also mentions the burn marks on both thighs of the deceased.
“Thigh showed superficial, rectangular burn marks. The experts have recorded that they found multiple irregular abrasions over right thigh, grazed abrasions above and below right knee and over shin, besides above and below left knee and over lower part of the leg.”
	Interestingly, to corroborate the theory that Owais’s body was mutilated by stray dogs, police during the course of investigation had butchered a sheep on the railway track. The fresh blood attracted the animals and they pounced on the animal. However, in the forensic report there is no mention of dog saliva.

After 7 months Kupwara couple set free from Bihar jail, reaches home

May 09: A couple from Kupwara was released seven months after they were jailed by Bihar police last year and reached home.
Peer Rahmatullah, a resident of Guzriyal Kupwara, and his wife Husam said they were released after seven months of “grueling and agonizing life” in a Bihar jail.
“I and my wife were kept in a jail in Bihar for seven months without our involvement in any case that deserved imprisonment,” Rahmatullah told KNS over phone from Kupwara.
	Under the rehabilitation policy for return of militants, started by the previous NC-led government, Rahmatullah and his wife in November crossed through Nepal border to India after the Jammu and Kashmir Police and security agencies gave clearance to their counterparts in Bihar to allow them to cross over.
But police in Bihar arrested them on India-Nepal border and imprisoned the duo in Motihari jail.
	“I was kept in an isolated cell of the jail for three months and for the remaining period I was put in common jail,” he said.
	“When we were arrested during our return, I pleaded with the police for my innocence. But they labeled us as being terrorists and jailed us,” he said.
	“The seven months in jail were agony and pain for us. My wife was put in women’s ward. We did not know anything about each other all those painful months,” he said.
	The couple said that the police released them on April 25 and they reached home May 08. 
Peer said he was distraught after reaching home as his mother could not see her son returning home. Peer’s mother, Hajira, died in December last year. 
	“I last talked to my mother on phone from Kathmandu. She was very happy that I was reaching home with my family after a long time,” he said.
	“I was returning home after living a life of a common man in Pakistan, but my return was made tragic by the police in Bihar,” he said.
 	“I was returning to live a normal life. We had nothing with us except some family belongings like clothes and money. But police confiscated all those things and did not hand over to us after our release,” he said.

Custodial Killing Police fails to register FIR against accused BSF personnel in 22 year-old case

May 03: The Jammu and Kashmir police has failed to register a First Information Report (FIR) against BSF personnel of 65 Battalion involved in custodial killing of a civilian of North Kashmir’s Baramulla district.
A civilian Nazir Ahmed Lone son of Mohammad Ramzan Lone of Kanispora Baramaulla was found dead on June 24, 1994 after having been arrested by JD officer of 65 Bn of BSF Chandsooma on June 23.
Despite having non-involvement report in any kind of subversive activity, issued by police on August 08, 1994, in his favor, the police has not registered an FIR.
The documents related to the custodial killing of Lone reveal that police has never taken cognizance of the grave crime in past 22 years since the incident happened.
“Lone was working in PDD Department and on 22-06-1994 he was arrested by JD officer of 65 Bn BSF Camp Chandsooma and on next date, that is 23-06-1994 his body was recovered,” reads a letter written by recently transferred DIG North Garib Das.
Das has sought explanation from the then SP Baramulla and Range Police Headquarters, Baramulla to explain as why the FIR is not lodged against the grave crime and why the matter has not been taken up so far.
DIG Das on March 05, 2016 vide letter number CRB/Clt-Bla-12/16 wrote to SP Baramulla that after scrutinizing all the documents and evidences, it is very much clear that Lone died an unnatural death and the cognizance into this matter has not been taken by the police in Baramulla district.
“From all the evidence supporting the custodial killing of Lone, it is evident that the deceased Nazir Ahmed Lone had died an unnatural death and the cognizance into this matter has not been taken up by the police. The post mortem report, copies of form Mazroobi and non involvement certificate in this respect indicates suspicious and flimsy situation,” reads the letter.
It further reveals that on February 11, 2016, Tajamul Islam son of deceased had appeared  in  the office chamber of the DIG Das with an application along with documents like non-involvement certificate issued DPO Baramulla vide  letter No. GB/Relief/94-11552 dated 19-08-1994,  copy  of the post mortem report of the deceased identified by SHO police station Baramulla conducted on 23-06-1994 given by Dr. G.N. Bulla (02 pages), copy of "form Mazroobi" of the deceased filled up by SHQ police station Baramulla under seal and signature.
Tajamul had requested that his father was working in PDD Department and on 22-06-1994 he was arrested by JD officer of 65 Bn BSF Camp Chandsooma and on 23-06-1994 his body was recovered.
“In this regard the applicant said that as per his knowledge no FIR regarding the death of his father stands registered in the concerned Police Station and the request for the lodgment of an FIR is made,” reads the letter.
The letter further reveals that the circumstances in which police conducted post mortem, filled form Mazroobi and also issued non involvement certificate was not clear to DIG Das.
“It is not clear that under what circumstances the police has filled form Mazroobi, conducted postmortem   of the   deceased  and processed  the non-involvement certificate. The matter is of great concern and indicates that there are lapses on the part of the then SHO Baramulla,” Das adds in his letter.
It reveals that neither any case has been registered nor any proceedings have been initiated into the matter.
Das also ordered an inquiry through this letter and asked police to lodge an FIR into the matter. However nothing in this regard has been done by the police so far despite orders issued by DIG Das.
“An inquiry is hereby ordered to be conducted by Deputy SP Headquarters Baramulla who shall ascertain the real cause behind the lapses and submit his report to this Headquarter within 15 days positively,” reads the letter.
However police has failed to register an FIR and also failed to conduct the inquiry. Besides SP Baramulla, the copy of the letter by DIG was also sent to Inspector General of Police, SJM Gilani for “favor of kind information.”
Meanwhile the non involvement certificate issued by police a copy of which is with media reveals that Lone was not involved in any subversive activity.
The postmortem report of deceased reveals that the body of Lone bore torture marks and the was bullet ridden.
“Multiple bullet injuries have been found on both thighs, fracturing both the legs. The deceased has died of shock after excessive blood loss as a result of multiple bullet injuries of brain and rest of the body,” reads the post mortem report of Lone.
In the external injuries examination part of post mortem report, it was revealed that the body of Lone bore burn marks (cigarette marks) on right hand, lower forearm, side thigh and left forearm.
Internal injuries showed lung puncture and blood collection inside the chest.
SSP Baramulla Suhail Imtiyaz said he will look into the matter as soon as possible.
“I was not SSP Baramulla for 22 years, but I will look into the matter as soon as possible. I don’t know anything about it right now,” he added.

Police officer recounts how BSF murdered his cousin before his eyes

May 08:  Twenty-four years after a student of the Government Medical College Srinagar was killed in cold blood by a Border Security Force (BSF) officer in his native Sopore town, his relatives have given up hope for justice. Nevertheless, they never tire of saying that had the student not traveled to his native town for a brief holiday, he would have, by now, been a successful doctor like his two siblings.
Riyaz Ahmad Kanjwal, 21, a student of MBBS third year at GMC Srinagar, was shot dead by a BSF officer from a point blank range on January 27, 1992. He had been standing on the debris of relative’s house that had been razed by the troopers a few days earlier. His crime, says his family, was that he looked into the eyes of the officer and dared to argue with him over the devastation caused in the town.
Riyaz’s elder cousin Mohammad Yaqoob Kanjwal, who retired as a senior police officer, told media that Riyaz was killed in front of his eyes but he could do nothing to save him despite being a police officer. In fact, it was over the debris of Yaqoob’s house where his cousin was shot dead. The house had been burnt to ashes two days earlier but not a single soul could go to the locality due to strict curfew imposed in the area.
Yaqoob said that they had left their roadside house two days ago to escape the reprisal of Indian forces. “During the intervening night of January 24 and 25, 1992, our house was set on fire. Our neighbours told us that the troopers of 179 battalion of BSF burnt down our house. They even didn’t let the fire tenders to approach towards the burning house to dose flames,” Yaqoob said.
On the following sunny day, Yaqoob recounts, when the curfew was relaxed for a few hours, he along-with Riyaz and his friend Aijaz Ahmad, a life insurance company employee, went to see as to what happened to their house during the blaze. All other locals were rushing towards the area to look for their own houses.
“In the afternoon we reached at our place only to be shocked to see the house completely gutted. Riyaz and Aijaz began clicking photographs while I engaged myself in removing debris,” Yaqoob recalled. “All of a sudden, a 179-battalion BSF team began approaching us. They fired some shots in air to scare us away but we held the ground,” he said.
Commandant of the battalion was leading the team. He went into the gutted house where Riyaz and Aijaz were inside. They entered into an argument. The commandant insisted that the house was set ablaze by the militants but Riyaz told him that the BSF was involved in the arson. This infuriated the officer who ordered his men to shoot Riyaz.
“I couldn’t understand what was happening. The BSF men pulled triggers and in moment Riyaz was hit multiple times in his head and chest. He died instantly in front of our bare eyes. We were shell shocked,” Yaqoob recalled.
A police team was also there. They too watched the entire event but they did not do anything, he said.
“I took Riyaz’s body to Sopore police station and lodged an FIR 27/92 against trooper Ramesh who killed him. A BSF team also lodged a counter FIR claiming recovery of pistol from Riyaz’s possession. The claim was dismissed by the court after some years,” Yaqoob said.
	Shortly after killing Riyaz, the BSF men took Aijaz into custody and subjected him to severe torture. He was pressurized to confess that Riyaz possessed a pistol. Aijaz died a year after his friend’s murder. He couldn’t live with the pain and suffering, his friends say.
Kanjwal was the third son of Abdul Ahad Kanjwal and the brightest among his siblings Dr Fayaz and Dr. Fida.
“We followed the case investigations for 12 years till 2004. Whenever, the case file was sent to ministry of home affairs, they picked up holes in the police investigation on the FIR. We don’t know what they did to that FIR later,” Yaqoob said.
“I was a police officer, an eyewitness of the brutal murder. I know how justice was denied to us and how my cousin’s killers went scoot free,” Yaqoob told media.
“Hundreds of Riyazs have been killed in every nook and corner of Kashmir. Their relatives are also deprived of justice just like we have been deprived,” he said.

1993 Bijbehara massacre by BSF: Govt releases Rs 93 lakh for families of 31 victims

May 8: The state government has released outstanding amount of Rs 3 lakh each to 31 families who were massacred by troopers of Border Security Forces at Bijbhera, Anantnag in 1993.
	According to a government order, Rs 93 lakh have been ordered to be drawn by the Director Finance, Home Department to be deposited with Registrar Judicial High Court at Srinagar.
	The order has been issued seven months after a division bench of the high court upheld its single bench order, directing government to pay Rs 4 lakh each to the 31 families.
	The government has already paid Rs 1 lakh each to victims in compliance to the directions by the state’s highest court.
Disposing of an appeal filed by the state government on 1 September last year, the division bench had directed government to deposit Rs 93 lakhs with its registry within three months for onward disbursement among the victim families.
	On 10 September 2007, the single bench had order government to pay compensation of Rs 4 lakh to each of the 31 victim families for death of their respective close relatives.
	The single bench had passed the ordered on a petition filed by the 31 persons against the Government of India and the State Government with a contention that the incident which took place on 22 October 1993 at Bijbehara was due to unprovoked firing by the BSF.
	“The issue as to whether the state Government can be saddled with the liability to pay the compensation or the central Government in such cases was considered by the division court on 11 August (2015) and it was held that (BSF) is to pay compensation to petitioner. However, respondents (state) cannot escape from liability to pay the compensation as it is at their instance that BSF has come to aid and assistance (it) for maintenance of law and order. (The state) therefore (is) to pay the compensation awarded, from Security Related Expenditure (SRE) provided by Central Government or in absence of availability of such funds to mobilize their source to pay compensation to the appellants (victim families),” the court had added.
The Case
	About 2,000 to 3,000 people protesting against siege of Hazratbal shrine were marching on Srinagar-Jammu highway when the BSF troopers of 47 battalion deployed at Goriwan fired at them.
	A case of murder and attempt to murder was filed against the troopers who were found guilty by a magisterial inquiry.
	The inquiry report recommended dismissal of accused troopers, 11 of whom were identified
	High court noted that BSF and police did not dispute inquiry finding that the troopers had fired without any provocation.

26 years of Hawal massacre: Inquiry yet to take off

May 20: The inquiry into the 26-year-old Hawal massacre in which scores of people were killed by paramilitary CRPF men while they were part of the funeral procession of Mirwaiz Moulvi Muhammad Farooq is yet to take off.
A case under FIR No 35 was registered at Police Station Nowhatta into the killings of 35 people who were killed on the spot near Islamia College at Hawal when the on duty CRPF men fired at the funeral procession of Mirwaiz Farooq, the 14th Mirwaiz of Kashmir.
Later, among more than 100 people injured in the firing, as per official accounts, 19 succumbed to injuries taking the death toll in the Hawal massacre to 56.
	However, locals put the overall death toll in Hawal massacre at 65.
	The paramilitary CRPF had at that time ordered an internal inquiry into the massacre but 26 years later, the government is yet to fix the responsibility of the massacre as no guilty CRPF man has been punished.
The case is yet to be closed and even after 26 years, it is still under investigation with the Crime Branch.
	The funeral of Mirwaiz Farooq on May 21, 1990 had drawn thousands of people and while the mourners were carrying his body, they were hit by bullets of CRPF men.
While the government failed to conclude the probe into Hawal massacre, the civil society too did not pursue the cases of the people killed in the massacre.
Like the civil society, Jammu and Kashmir Police too does not have a clue on what is the present status of the Hawal massacre case.
Top Police authorities said they have no idea about the case.
The Hawal massacre was third of its kind in 1990 following the Gaw Kadal massacre of January 21, 1990 and Handwara massacre of January 25, 1990.
Fayaz Ahmad, who was then a 16-year-old, recalls how he survived the massacre by hiding himself among the dead and injured.
“My body was covered with the blood oozing from the wounds of the bullet-hit injured,” he said. “I tried not to tremble even as the CRPF men killed a number of civilians in front of me and it worked as my body was taken away with the dead for burial.”
Fayaz said elderly and middle-aged men were taken by handcarts to SKIMS from Hawal.
Tahir Ahmad Baba, who lost his legs in the massacre, still remembers the day when he ran with those legs for his life.
Tahir, who was 15-years-old then, lives opposite Islamia College of Science and Commerce and works on his traditional shawl handloom in an old mud-walled room of the top-floor of his house wherefrom the spot from where the CRPF men opened indiscriminate fire for around 20 minutes without any halt.
	Outside in the busy Hawal Chowk, Parvaiz Ahmed Kawa while sitting in front of his shop is engaged in a discussion with other shopkeepers on the Hawal massacre.
“We were discussing how thousands of shoes piled up for around 15 days in front of our shops, shoes and sandals of men, women and children and of those who were martyred,” Kawa said.
“A pregnant woman was also shot dead,” he said. “We can never forget her and her baby’s sacrifice.”
Pointing toward the massacre spot, Kawa said after the firing, CRPF men took away gold jewellery from injured women and wallets of men lying on the ground.
	Shabir Ahmad Baba, another eyewitness recounted how CRPF men trampled many injured to death and walked over their bodies and fired even at bodies.
“I saw an aged woman lying in a pool of blood with a bullet mark on her chest and when she tried to convince the CRPF personnel to let her go, he let her go forever by firing a round of bullets at her,” he said.

Villagers say how Drugmulla gunfight was ‘staged’

May 22: Herein we are incorporated a report carried out by the local daily Kashmir Reader on Drugmulla gunfight which the paper claimed was staged based on the statement made to it by the locals. 
The five militants, who the army claimed were killed in Check village of Drugmulla area in a ‘daylong gunfight’ on Saturday, were buried on Sunday amid pro-freedom sloganeering by the residents who rubbished army’s version of the incident.
The villagers said the army entered the village on Friday night and early Saturday zeroed in on a locked house, whose owner, Syed Shah, currently lives in Srinagar.
Till 3pm, the residents said they heard intermittent gunfire and sounds of explosion, but at no point of time it looked that a gunfight was raging on.
“For the entire Friday night the soldiers stayed in our homes where some of them dozed off, went leisurely to bathrooms and even ate food. Have you ever seen the army so relaxed during a gunfight?” said Mohammad Afzal Bhat, who lives next to Shah’s home.
For the entire stretch of the “encounter”, the villagers vainly pleaded before the army that they shall be allowed to go near the house and make an appeal to the militants to surrender.
“One of them told me ‘aay budhey goli woli lage gi (old man, you will die)’. They didn’t let us because we knew all along that there was no one inside the house,” said Shafi (not his real name).
Shah, the owner of the house, told Kashmir Reader, “When I reached here from Srinagar I came to know from my neighbors that no one is inside (the house) because they didn’t hear the other side fire. It was only the army that was firing bullets and grenades.”
“I told the commander let me go inside my home and if there is a militant there I will make him surrender. But they didn’t let me. They blew up the house with mortar shells at about 3pm. I am still not able to enter my house as the army said they have forgotten a grenade in my lawns and directed us no to go near to the debris of the house,” Shah added.
However, the army’s warning turned out to be a ruse. When the villagers entered the house at about 4pm, they were expecting to find the bodies of the militants under the debris.
“Although the house had been razed to the ground, there was not a single burn mark on the body of any of the militants. Neither were the bodies covered in dust, which you normally expect when an entire house collapses on someone. What we did see what that the leg of one of the martyrs was covered with a bandage. It seems he was already injured and had been treated somewhere else,” said a villager who requested anonymity.
“The bodies smelled and when we were performing ablutions on them the hairs of the beards came off. The bullet wounds were festering. It shows they had been killed a few days ago. In our village they faked a gunfight,” he added.
He said several heads of cattle were killed and some houses suffered damaged in this “staged gunfight”.
How a soldier die and another suffered injuries, as claimed by the army?
“They were injured when their own grenade exploded,” the villagers said.
	Army spokesman Lt Col NN Joshi said the “allegations of staged encounter were baseless and are being spread to malign the image of Indian army”.
When the villagers announced on Saturday that the bodies would be kept at a local Darsgah and funeral prayers will be held on Sunday so that people from neighbouring can also participate in the last rites, the government snapped mobile network services in Kupwara and sealed with razor wire and other barricades the entry points of Check village. The mobile services were restored after the militants were buried.
The attendance of the thousands of people in the funerals of militants has come as an embarrassment for the government, which often says there is no support for militancy.
At about 11 am on Sunday, a couple of hundred men performed the last rites of the five militants. Their bodies were draped in white cloth, sprinkled with attar (natural perfume) and holy water from zum zum well of Kaa’ba.
The mourners shouted anti-India, pro-freedom and pro-martyrs slogans. 
Member of Legislative Assembly Engineer Rashid was reportedly detained while on way to Drugmulla to participate in the funeral prayers. 


Militants’ funerals: Now govt. snaps mobile networks too

May 22: It appears the government is pulling out all the stops to prevent people from coming to the aid of militants during gunfights or attending the funerals of dead militants in large numbers.
Apart from banning assembly of more than five people within 2-km radius of any encounter site, the government now snaps mobile phone communication and Internet in the troubled spot to maintain a disconnect between various areas. Such disconnect was earlier effected by bunkers and huge deployment of forces.
“It (assembly of people at encounters and militant funerals) has become a matter of grave concern for the government. Initially we tried to prevent people by imposing restrictions but the method has not been very effective. Now we have decided to snap mobile services. It stops quick mobilization of people,” a senior official in south Kashmir told media.
During Drugmulla encounter, the government forces also closed the roads leading to the village to prevent the inflow of people from other areas.
The phenomenon of huge processions of slogan-shouting people, a reminiscent of the 1990s, began gaining currency in Kashmir again since the poster boy of new-age militancy, Burhan Wani, shot into prominence.
In scores of encounters, mostly in south Kashmir, people in large crowds began marching towards encounter sites to help holed up militants escape. Even women were also spotted backing up their male counterparts in their attempt to help militants escape.
	In February this year, two civilians including a woman were killed when the government forces opened fire on a group of protesters close to an encounter site at Kakapora village in Pulwama district.
A week later, three militants engaged a heavy deployment of army and paramilitaries for three days inside the building of Entrepreneurship Development Institute (EDI) near Pampore in the periphery of Srinagar city. This became one of the bloodiest encounters where Indian army lost two captain-rank elite commandos.
People from nearby villages gathered around the site. They played songs through the public address system of mosques extolling revolution and bravery of militants. This was reminiscent of situation in Kashmir in early 1990s, when such songs were played in mosques to drum up support for the anti-India rebellion.
Sources said that top officials in the counterinsurgency grid held brainstorming discussions to counter the emerging trend. “An inconclusive meeting was specifically held to study the phenomenon. The imposition of section 144 around the encounter site was decided in the meeting. Subsequently, it was also decided that the mobile phone service must be snapped in the area,” the officer said.
However, snapping phone service is more prevalent in south Kashmir as compared to the north where militancy does not possess too sharp teeth.
“If the encounter prolongs more than the expected time, the mobile services are halted. Otherwise, even if an encounter rages, the phone service continues as usual,” an official from north Kashmir said. “In the last encounter in Kupwara where a militant was killed, the mobile services were not snapped,” he said.
The area-specific snapping of mobile phone and internet services is not usually done following proper procedures. The authorities routinely shut mobile phones including internet services during India’s Independence and Republic day. The services are also snapped when a high-profile Indian leader is on visit to Kashmir.

Govt. seeks list of Whatsapp users `fanning’ militancy

May 04: The government has asked the Senior Superintendents of Police (SSPs) and Tehsildars to furnish the list of people including the government employees, who are provoking the public especially youth to “fan militancy” through their comments and uploads on Whatsapp groups.  
In the directive issued by Divisional Commissioner Kashmir seeking the monitoring of the Whatsapp groups, the Deputy Commissioners (DCs) have been asked to take action in cases where the militants are glorified through these groups.  
“The delinquents involved in provoking the general public especially youth for creating law and order problems against whom there is evidence shall be dealt with sternly,” noted the recent directive.  
The government has asked Whatsapp newsgroup to register with the concerned DCs to restrict spreading of rumors.
In the circulars issued by Deputy Commissioners to the government offices in districts, it has been noted that employees serving in the district should restrain from making any comment and remarks with regard to policies and decisions of government on the Whatsapp groups.
“If anyone is found involved in such activities, strict action will be initiated against him as required under rules,” say the order.
The government has also asked the Admins of Whatsapp news groups to get the registration of their groups in the shortest possible time.
For keeping a regular tab on the information that gets disseminated through Whatsapp groups, the District Informatics Officers (DIOs) have been tasked to register the Whatsapp groups. 
They (DIOs) have also been directed to keep vigil on the activities of these Whatsapp news groups and bring illegality to the notice of district administration.
The government directive has noted that the group Admins of each group will be responsible for all the posts on their groups and any irresponsible remarks leading to untoward incidents will be dealt under law.
Officials said the directives have come as the videos of heavily armed militant commanders were circulated through the Whatsapp groups. Recently some government employees were suspended for allegedly provoking the youth to indulge in the incidents of stone pelting in Kupwara after killing of civilians in security men’s firing.  
The government has ordered a magisterial probe in the Kupwara incident as there were complaints that some employees, who were associated with Hurriyat and National Conference, had provoked youth to indulge in stone pelting.
Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir, SJM Gilani told media that the monitoring of the Whatsapp groups has been initiated to ensure that rumours are not spread to create law and order problem.

Lathicharge on NIT students: NHRC notice to MHRD, Srinagar police

May 3: The National Human Right Commission (NHRC) has issued notices to Union Human Resource Development Ministry and Srinagar police administration over the alleged incident of police lathicharge on non-Kashmiri students in NIT Srinagar campus.
	Taking cognizance of a complaint of University of Jammu Law student Harsh Dubey, the Commission issued notices to Secretary HRD ministry and SSP, Srinagar, calling for status report and the steps being taken to avoid recurrence of such incidents in future, said a Commission official.
	The petitioner has requested the apex rights body to constitute a fact finding team, to issue directions to the state government to take strict action against the police officials who allegedly used cruel and brute force against non-Kashmiri students and to ensure safety and security of all non-Kashmiri students studying in NIT Srinagar.

Sainik colony controversy 

Since the announcement of establishment of Sainik colony by the government a tussle has already been started between the government and Pro-freedom groups and govt. opposition parties. The experts are of the opinion that if this issues is not addressed properly it could blow into a major controversy, therefore, can trigger mass agitation on similar terms of year 2008 and 2010. The pro-freedom groups and civil society have already expressed its concern about establishment of such a colony in Kashmir, however, the government is wishy-washy about the issue. Herein below we have incorporated the development happen around this issue in the month of May.  
· Sainik Colony gets Home department push
DCs of Srinagar, Budgam asked to ‘look into’ proposal floated by Sainik Board; Mehbooba ‘not aware’ of the issue
May 06: At a time when deputy commissioner Srinagar and Budgam have been asked to speedily identify land for setting up residential clusters for serving and retired army personnel in the outskirts of Srinagar, chief minister Mehbooba Mufti was as evasive as her deputy and education minister were when the issue was first reported by Kashmir Reader.
“I don’t know which proposal you are talking about,” Mehbooba told reporters at SKICC.
In April this year, the home department, which is headed by the chief minister, had in a letter told the deputy commissioners of Budgam and Srinagar to submit their comments on the establishment of Sainik (soldiers’) Colony “at the earliest”.
	In August 2015, media had exclusively reported that Sainik Welfare Department had proposed residential clusters for retired servicemen in 2012 and Rajya Sainik Board had cleared the proposal in 2015.
	The board, headed by Governor NN Vohra, had cleared a proposal to establish a residential colony for soldiers near Srinagar’s old airport.
	As many as 173 kanals (about 22 acres) of land identified by the Board had been cleared by the government for the Colony.
However, Mufti Mohammad Sayed-led government’s spokesperson Naeem Akhar had dismissed the report as “baseless”.
Also, deputy chief minister Nirmal Singh denied the government had any plans to build a Sainik Colony in the Valley because such a colony already existed in the Jammu region. He even blamed “separatists” for spreading such “rumours”.
On 16 April 2015, Vohra led Rajya Sainik Board during its 77thmeeting at Jammu Raj Bhawan had said the number of soldiers who applied for the plots had increased, and thus the requirement of land for the colony had also increased from 173 kanals to 350 kanals.
“…Divisional Commissioner Kashmir had agreed for allotment of 173 kanals of land on payment basis in old airfield area and accordingly the case was taken up with the state Home Department,” said the document of the meeting of the Board, a copy of which lies with this newspaper.
Kashmir Reader had reported that the documents did not specify whether plots would be allotted only to soldiers who are J&K subjects or non-state subject servicemen too.	
However, Governor Vohra, in his opening remarks, is quoted as saying that the “state government must take every required step to ensure welfare of all serving and retired defence personnel and their families about 7.8 lakh presently (sic)”, implying that the Colony is meant for non-state subjects as well.
Pro-freedom, opposition parties and the J&K High Court Bar Association had opposed the proposed Sainik Colony.
	Former editor of RSS mouthpiece ‘Panchjanya’ and BJP parliamentarian Tarun Vijay, who had submitted a proposal to Narendra Modi-led government last year, had demanded settlement rights for soldiers in the Valley.
Vijay had sought settlement rights for the soldiers who have served a minimum of three years in the Valley.
However, defence minister Manohar Parrikar had said that Vijay’s proposal had been forwarded to the state government as the land in J&K is state subject.
· No land allocated for Sainik Colony in Kashmir: J&K govt.
May 07: Following outcry from the civil society, separatists and the Opposition National Conference (NC), the Jammu and Kashmir government clarified that no land had been allotted or was being allotted anywhere in Kashmir for any housing project by the name of Sainik Colony.
	“Ex-servicemen, belonging to the State, have been demanding land for a housing colony. But no allotment of land for any such project has been made anywhere in the Valley. The reports seem motivated and aimed at disturbing peace in the State at a time when tourism and business activity has just started picking up,” said Minister for Education and government spokesman Naeem Akhtar.
	The clarification comes amid media reports that the authorities were identifying 173 kanals (21.6 acres) of land in Srinagar and Budgam for Sainik Colonies to house troops and their families.
· Do ‘some officials’ work independently of government on Sainik Colony?
May 09: The PDP-led coalition government’s reaction to reports about the setting up of a Sainik Colony in the Valley has been guarded to say the least. But in his play of words, government spokesman Naeem Akhtar has raised a fundamental question: Do ‘some officials’ act independently of the government?
“There is a proposal which has come from some welfare forum of retired soldiers but as a government spokesman I am telling you that we do not have any land and we are otherwise asking (army) for god sake to return the land that has gone here or there so that it can be used for developmental projects,” Akhtar told Hyderabad-based news channel ETV.
“There is no question about it (establishment of the Sainik Colony). An application has come and some officials have written something on it but the people who have to take decision doesn’t know anything about it and it has to come before the cabinet,” Akhtar said.
He added that both chief minister and revenue minister have clarified there is no such plan.
However, he did not identify “some officials” nor did he specify as to what was that “something” that was written on the application by these officials.
If state’s reply is taken on its face value, it appears that “some officials” warrant action for keeping the government in dark, if at all that is the case.
As reported last week in media, the home department, which is headed by the chief minister, last month had in a letter told the deputy commissioners of Budgam and Srinagar to submit their comments on the establishment of Sainik (soldiers’) Colony “at the earliest”.
In August 2015, Kashmir Reader reported that Sainik Welfare Department had proposed residential clusters for retired servicemen in 2012 and Rajya Sainik Board had cleared the proposal in 2015.
The board, headed by Governor NN Vohra, had cleared a proposal to establish a residential colony for soldiers near Srinagar’s old airport.
	Asked about the comments as to whether the proposal for the Sainik Colony has come from those soldiers who served during their tenure in the state, Naeem said: “There is a state subject law and it’s clearly written that no outsider can reside in the state. This is even known to a child… Who is saying that the colony is being established for non-state subjects, we are not establishing any such colony at first place.”
· Mehbooba confirms KR report on Colony, but says no land allotted yet
May 09: Chief Minister Mehbooba confirmed that the ex-servicemen of Jammu and Kashmir have been demanding a residential colony but the government has not allotted land for it yet.
On the first day of opening of civil secretariat in Srinagar, Mehbooba said non-state subject soldiers have not demanded a colony in the state.
“Rumors are being spread (on Sainik Colony). The government has not allotted any land for it till date,” Mehbooba told reporters In Srinagar.
On August 2015, Kashmir Reader had reported the Rajya Sainik Board-led by Governor NN Vohra had cleared the proposal of the Sainik Colony on the outskirts of Srinagar during its 77th meeting in April last year. The Board had asked the Home department and Divisional Commissioner Kashmir to handover the land identified at Srinagar’s old airfield.
At the meeting, RSB secretary Brig (Retd) RS Langeh had informed the official members of the Board, including former J&K chief secretary Iqbal Khandey, that divisional commissioner Kashmir had agreed to allot 173 kanals of land on payment basis in old airfield area. The rush of soldiers, however, had prompted the Board to send a revised proposal seeking 350 kanals of land.
In a follow-up, the Home department had sent reminders to deputy commissioner Srinagar and Budgam about the colony in April 2016.
· I don’t lie, no land allotted for Sainik Colony: CM
‘No outsider will get admission in JK’s medical colleges’
May 10: Amid raging controversy over a proposal to establish Sainik Colonies in J&K, the Chief Minister Mehbooba Mufti maintained that no land has been allotted for this purpose.
“I never lie. My father has advised me never to resort to lies but some people are spreading rumors and lies regarding establishment of Sainik Colony in Kashmir. I want to make it clear that no land has been allotted for this purpose,” Mehbooba said, addressing people at the inaugural ceremony of Coffee-cum-Book shop at Nehru Park in Srinagar.
The Chief Minister, however, said the first meeting regarding setting up of Sainik Board was held during Omar Abdullah’s tenure as Chief Minister. 
“And recently, a meeting regarding the issue was held during Governor’s rule but due to non-availability of land Army was asked to identify the land, but no land has been allotted for setting up the colony,” she said.
On Supreme Court decision regarding National Eligibility-cum-Entrance Test (NEET), the Chief Minister said no outsider would get admission in medical colleges of the State under the new system.
“As per the SC judgment, only our state subjects would get admission in colleges of Jammu and Kashmir. But some elements are spreading canards and rumors,” she said.
She also asked youth of Kashmir not to pay heed to rumors spread through social media or newspapers. “Don’t believe in rumors. You can call me directly if you need any clarification about any issue. You should take up your issues directly with me,” she said. The CM was all praise for the youth and said they get engaged in “other activities due to non-availability of space for healthy activities in Kashmir.”
· Sainik Colony for state subjects will be set up in Valley: BJP
May 21: Although government spokesman and PDP leader Naeem Akhtar recently said the government never planned to build a colony for retired soldiers, the BJP on Saturday said a Sainik Colony will be set up in Kashmir for the soldiers who are state subjects. The government of India will come up with a solution to the re-settlement of Pandits as well, BJP state president Sat Sharma said.
Sainik Colony for former servicemen will be established in Kashmir on the pattern of the one that has been set up in Jammu, he said.
“Definitely, government will think about it and a colony for state subject Sainiks will be set up in Kashmir. It won’t be a problem neither it should be a problem to anyone as soldiers are guarding our boundaries irrespective of caste, colour and creed,” he told media.
Sharma said the saffron party is taking the issue of Sainik Colony seriously because “we are alive due to Sainiks protecting the borders.”
Proposal for setting up Sainik Colony has put government under strain as the resistance group had warned of 2008-like agitation. The government, of which BJP is an alliance partner, had come up with multiple denials on setting up a soldiers’ colony. Last year, a soldiers’ panel, Rajya Sainik Board led by the Governor N N Vohra had okayed  setting up Sainik Colony at Srinagar’s old airfield  Last month, the Home department had reminded deputy commissioner Srinagar and Budgam for  allocating 173 Kanals of land. Opposition National Conference president Omar Abdullah had termed Sainik Colony a ruse for settling outsiders.
Along with the Colony, the government had also denied setting up exclusive colonies for Pandits.
However, Sharma insisted the BJP-led government of India will come up with a solution to the re-settlement of migrant Pandits in Kashmir.
“We are taking the issue of settling Pandits seriously and their resettlement will be according to their wishes. The central government as well as state government will settle them in the Valley,” he added.
· CM clarifies on Pandit, Sainik Colonies
May 28: After massive public pressure, Chief Minister Mehbooba Mufti clarified that the proposal for Sainik colonies in the Valley was meant for State subject ex-servicemen only.
Mehbooba made the statement during her 80-minute speech in the Legislative Assembly while winding up the discussion on motion of thanks on the Governor’s address.
The Chief Minister said there was no land identified for setting up the Sainik colonies and there has been no order from the Government for identifying land or building the colonies. “But I want to clear that the Sainik colonies are for State subjects only. The Sainik colony is meant for the ex-servicemen state subjects. The society under which the colony is being proposed was inaugurated by Sheikh Mohammad Abdullah in 1975.”
The Chief Minister’s statement on the Sainik and Pandit colonies comes at a time when separatists have been mulling a joint strategy to resist the proposals, stating that the moves were aimed at settling non-state subjects in the Valley and weakening the state’s special position.

Pandit township controversy

Like Sainik colony controversy, the separate Pandit township issue is shaping up dangerously possibly can further widen the gap between the two communities and can also trigger major agitation against the government. While many Kashmiri Pandits, mostly who reused the idea of migration in 90s, and Kashmiri Muslim are averse to the idea of separate townships. The migrant Pandits are being welcomed by the majority community since years now and there is no acceptability of Separate Township, as it could divide the community further. This month various developments regarding this issue occur, below we have incorporated them and moreover other Pandit related development.
· JK asked to speed up land identification of Pandit townships, says minister
May 03: The government of India has asked the PDP-BJP government to identify land for setting up composite townships for Kashmiri Pandits in the Valley.
In an official bulletin of the government of India’s Press Information Bureau, the minister of state for Home Affairs Haribhai Parathibhai Chaudhary told Lok Sabha that the state government has been requested to identify “suitable land” in Kashmir for rehabilitation of the Pandits.
He said further action would be taken only when the land is identified.
Last year, when former chief minister Mufti Mohammad Sayeed had assured the government of India that land would be acquired for the composite townships, triggering a sharp reaction from resistance groups and civil society who likened the townships to Israeli-settlements in occupied Palestinian territories.
Fearing an uprising, the government hurriedly clarified that by ‘composite’ it meant that a sizable portion of apartments in these townships would be reserved for other communities.
The minister said about 62,000 Kashmiri migrant families, who migrated from the Valley in the 1990s, were registered— 40,000 in Jammu, 20,000 in Delhi/NCR and about 2000 in other parts of India.
	In November 2015, the Indian government had approved a rehabilitation package of Rs 2000 crore for providing additional 3000 state government jobs for Pandit youths and construction of 6000 transit accommodations in the Valley for the Kashmiri migrants, the minister said.
The minister said the state government has been requested to take necessary action for the implementation of the package at the earliest.
· Rajnath discusses return of state land by army, Pandits’ settlement
May 05: A high-level meeting chaired by Home minister Rajnath Singh discussed various issues pertaining to Jammu and Kashmir, including rehabilitation of Kashmiri Pandit migrants, return of civilian land by the army and the situation along the line of control.
The meeting was attended among others by Defence Minister Manohar Parikar, state Governor NN Vohra and National Security Advisor Ajit K Doval.
According to official sources, the issue of surrender of civilian land being used by the army was discussed at the meeting and it was decided that state’s Chief Secretary will hold a meeting with Defence Ministry officials to identify those and work out a proposal.
	The army had in principle agreed during the tenure of Omar Abdullah government to hand over the 139-acre ‘Tattoo Ground’ to the state government but a final decision had to be taken by the Defence Ministry.
Now, according to the sources, the army has been pressing for regularisation of a land in picturesque Gulmarg in return for the ‘Tattoo Ground’.
The rehabilitation of Kashmiri Pandits in the Valley and identifying land for their resettlement also came up for discussion.
There are about 62,000 registered Kashmiri migrant families in India, who left the state after the onset of militancy in the 1990s.
About 40,000 registered families stay in Jammu, while another 20,000 in New Delhi. The remaining 2,000 families are settled in other parts of India.
The high-level meeting also took stock of the situation prevailing along the International Border and Line of Control, amidst reports of infiltration attempts from across the border with the onset of summer, the sources said.
The meeting also reviewed the action taken to maintain security in the Valley in the wake of recent unrest following the killing of four persons by government forces against protesters enraged over alleged molestation of a girl.
In a statement, the Home Ministry said the meeting was called to review the developmental projects and other related issues regarding the state.
It was decided that the matter relating to surrender of civilian land not required for operational purposes by the army would be expedited.
	The army has restructured its requirements for land which it would make available to the state government for development projects, the statement said.
· Govt begins to identify land for migrant colonies
May 11: The government of Jammu and Kashmir has started to identify land to construct composite colonies, meant primarliy for Kashmiri Pandits who want to return along with their families, official sources said. They said that in this connection the revenue department has identified 150 kanals of lands in Kanispora area of north Kashmir’s Baramulla district on the Kanispora-Jahama road along the Srinagar-Muzaffarabad highway.
The revenue department, it was said, has been put into service to identify the land. An official of the revenue department said that the Additional Commissioner Kashmir, Department of Revenue, recently visited Baramulla and ordered revenue officials to identify a piece of land over 200 kanals. Following the orders, officials selected a plot of land belonging to a person from the Sikh community in Kanispora.
Minister of revenue Syed Basharat Hussain Bukhari while talking to reporters in Baramulla, on May 11, confirmed that the government was going to construct some composite colonies for migrants, in which 50% flats would be given to migrants and the rest to Muslims who are homeless.
Bukhari was talking to reporters about the Sainik Colony controversy, on which he said that “we have no proposal to identify land for any Sainik Colony. As revenue minister, I have not passed any proposal to identify any land for Sainik Colony”.
He said that it was a decision taken when Mufti Mohammad Sayeed was the CM to construct colonies for both Muslims and Pandits.
However, a revenue official, on condition of anonymity, claimed that the proposal was that of a ‘complete composite town’ for Kashmiri Pandits and that the government would not allot any flats to Kashmiri Muslims.
· Kashmiri migrants to continue getting 5% quota in Delhi University
May 22: Kashmiri migrants will continue to get 5 per cent quota in admissions to undergraduate courses in Delhi University in the upcoming academic session with the varsity’s admission panel making it clear there are no changes for the category.
A top official of the 24-member committee, which is working on an admission policy for the ensuing session, on Tuesday said that no changes are likely in the reservation for Kashmiri Migrants.
The panel will submit its final recommendations to the Vice Chancellor who will then take a call on the admission policy which will be notified by end of this month.
“A concession of maximum 10 per cent in the last cut-off list for the general category candidates is also extended to the candidates for admissions to various courses (Reservation not applicable for courses requiring entrance test).
Candidates are required to fulfill the minimum eligible criteria prescribed by the university,” he added.
In a letter to the university, the HRD ministry had asked to ensure “concession for the wards of Kashmiri migrants for admission during academic session 2016-17”.
“The reservation to Kashmiri migrants has been part of DU’s admission policy for years. Candidates are required to submit the certificate of registration as a Kashmiri migrant, proof of property in Kashmir and proof of current residence in Delhi along with their applications, apart from other regular documents,” the official said.
Admission through this quota does not take place with the general admissions process, since this quota is ‘over and above’ other reserved categories of the university.
· CM wants to keep ‘pigeon’ Pandits away from ‘cat’ Muslims for now
May 28: Chief minister Mehbooba Mufti said that asking Kashmiri migrant Pandits to restart their lives in their native places in the Valley is like putting pigeons among cats.
“We will set up transit accommodation for them and when the situation improves Pandits will move back to their original places and live with us,” she said.
Opposition leader Omar Abdullah had sought clarification over the proposed Pandit township in his speech on Friday, asking the government how it was possible to bring back migrants to their native places without providing them safety.
“Many of our workers migrated to Srinagar because it was unsafe in their native villages. Do we send them back? No, we don’t. If we are not ready to send our workers to their homes, how can we ask Pandits to go to their original places?” Mehbooba said.
· Over Rs 320 Cr spent on cash assistance to Kashmiri migrants in 2 yrs: Bukhari
May 28: Minister for Revenue, Relief and Rehabilitation Syed Basharat Bukhari informed the Legislative Assembly that government has incurred Rs 321.948 crore on account of providing cash assistance to Kashmiri migrants from March 2014 to April 2016.
	Replying to a question by MLA Langate Er Abdul Rashid, the Minister said Kashmiri migrants under relief category are presently being provided monthly cash assistance of Rs 2500 per person monthly subject to maximum of Rs 10000 per family per month. 
He said in addition these families are provided ration, rice at the rate of 9 kg per person per month, Atta 2 kg per person per month and sugar 1 kg per family per month.
	Bukhari said for return and rehabilitation of Kashmiri migrants, the Government of India (GoI) and State Government has sanctioned a package of Rs 1618.40 crore in 2008 and 2009. 
	He said under the package those Kashmiri migrants who propose or intend to return to their original place of stay, there is a component of financial assistance of Rs 7. 50 lakh for construction of the house. 
	The Minister said in addition to this, 6000 government jobs and 9000 additional jobs through establishing income generating units are being also provided to the Kashmiri migrant Pandits under the PM’s Package.
	He said Rs 321.948 crores has been incurred on account of providing cash assistance to Kashmiri migrants from March 2014 to April 2016. “Besides, an amount of Rs 18.76 crore was also incurred for providing food grains to the migrants registered under relief category in Jammu”.
	Bukhari said under PM’s package one time grant for revival of Agriculture and Horticulture land besides continuation of relief for two years, scholarships to the school going children and waiver of interest would also be provided to the Kashmiri migrants whom propose or intend to return to their original places of residence.
	He further said the registered Muslim families who migrated to different parts of the country are also entitled to the assistance as are provided to other migrant communities in that part of the country by the concerned State.
Only “transit accommodation” for Pandits: CM 
May 28: After massive public pressure, Chief Minister Mehbooba Mufti clarified that the Government would set up only “transit accommodation” to facilitate return of Pandits to Kashmir. Mehbooba made the statement during her 80-minute speech in the Legislative Assembly while winding up the discussion on motion of thanks on the Governor’s address.
Mehbooba said there wouldn’t be exclusive colonies for Kashmiri Pandits but they would be settled in transit accommodations before they decide to move to their original places.
“They will live in transit accommodation and once the situation gets better they can go and live anywhere they want to,” said Mehbooba. “These will be transit accommodations and not townships where 50 percent of accommodation would be kept for Pandits and the remaining 50 percent for people from other communities.”
“We have to provide them breathing space till they feel confident to move to their original places,” said Mehbooba. “We can’t put pigeon before the cat.”

Pandits who stayed in Kashmir full of ‘regret’, face ‘identity crisis’: KPSS survey

May 29: Of the 2,765 Pandits (651 families) left in 192 places across the Kashmir valley, a 100% face “identity crisis” and over 99% do not find their identity the same as it was before 1990. Over 62% of Pandits living in Kashmir, a survey has revealed, have a “compromising self-image”.
Pandits claim to be the oldest inhabitants of Kashmir but about 3,00,000 of them were driven out, most of them in 1990, with the eruption of Islamist separatist insurgency in Kashmir.
The Kashmiri Pandit Sangharsh Samiti (KPSS) carried out a survey over two years in 2008-10 interviewing 1,326 Pandits in the age group of 13 to 80 years from all the 651 families that stayed on. The respondents included housewives, college students, and retired government employees.
KPSS president Sanjay Tickoo shared the survey findings with Times of India, which reported that the survey found 51% of the respondents as suffering from serious mental and physical illnesses. More than 70% of Pandits in Kashmir felt that the mass departure of their community members led to the breakdown of their traditional family structure; 74% felt that it had affected the marriage prospects of their children.
Due to their small numbers, the community’s youth do not find desirable matches in Kashmir. Almost 59% respondents said that their children were culturally alienated and chose to leave the Valley for higher education or employment. Islamic prayers in both private and public schools had affected Pandit children immensely.
The survey attributed the “dilution of identity” to the absence of community, social isolation, inability to celebrate religious festivals with the freedom as they once did, destruction of temples and shrines by militants, and the scarcity of priests to officiate at ceremonies.
	The other major factor that led to the identity crisis was the “hostile” attitude of youth towards Pandits in the Valley. Girja Koul, a Srinagar housewife, said: “The older generation understands shared culture and identity. But the young boys here have no respect for who we are. They mock us on the streets. It is very insulting and painful.”
As per the survey, 82% respondents regretted the decision to stay back. “The government is concerned only about the displaced community, but those who stayed back are neither acknowledged nor looked after. Our 562 youth are unemployed and instead of absorbing them here, they are being forced to leave the Valley,” said Tickoo.
	Avtar Kaul, a retired government employee, said the communal separatist rhetoric of the past 26 years in Kashmir had affected him psychologically.

New Industrial Policy opens gates for non-state subjects in JK

May 11: The new Industrial Policy for Jammu and Kashmir allows non-state subjects to get on lease the land for setting up industries outside the industrial estates in the state with the policy remaining silent on the upper ceiling of the land to be leased out. 
Officials said this was for the first time that the Government would be allowing the non-state subjects to set up industries at large scale outside the estates in the state with maximum land lease period fixed at 90 years.  
The move to lease the proprietary/state land to outsiders has already invited criticism from separatists and the state industrial players as it is being seen in total contradiction of the Government’s policy to acquire land-bank of around 20,000 kanals for setting up more industrial estates.
The official said under the industrial policy 2016-2026 which was approved under the Governor’s rule, an outsider can get land on lease anywhere in the state, with the approval of the Government, for a period of 40 years which can be extended to maximum of 90 years.
“In case of private promoters from outside (non-state subjects), JK SIDCO, SICOP may with the prior approval of the State Government acquire land through district collector on behalf of the private promoter with the cost of the land and the agency charges as may be determined provided in full by the promoter and lease it out on long term basis for 90 years (Initially for a period of 40 years, renewable at the option of lessor for a further period of 40 years at a time provided that maximum period of lease shall in no circumstances exceed 90 years) on mutually agreed terms and conditions.”
Sources said the policy has left many “unanswered questions” as it doesn’t talks about the upper ceiling on the land that outsiders can get on lease.
“The Government can lease out the State land to the outside investors on mere premium of few rupees like in the case of National Institute of Fashion Technology which was allocated around 150 kanals of land for Rs 1 at industrial estate Ompora,” said the sources. 
“Under the policy an investor can get the land in an area of his liking,” they said.
The sources said both the Directorates of Industries in Kashmir and Jammu had given their recommendations for the new industrial policy. “But the clause that talks about leasing out state/proprietary land to outside players at bulk outside the estates was introduced in the policy at the administrative level in the secretariat,” said the sources.
Commissioner, Secretary, Industries and Commerce, Shailendra Kumar said the avenues in Government sector were limited which has prompted the Government to attract outside investments.  
“We are looking to attract Rs 20,000 crore investment in next 10 years. In last 10 years when the previous industrial policy was in place the State recorded roughly Rs 3,000 crore investment in industrial sector,” he said.  
Kumar, however, said the Land Grants Act provides that anybody even outside parties can be provided land for establishing units.
“The clause in the Industrial policy is not new one…In 1963 Birla group was allowed to establish Chenab Textiles which is still functioning,” he said.
Former Financial Commissioner Industries and Commerce KhursheedAGanai, who was the head of the committee that was tasked to draft the policy, said he wasn’t aware about the policy which has been implemented.
“By the time the final draft of the policy was approved, I was no longer holding the charge of Industries,” he said.

Masarat Alam: 49 cases, 32 PSA detentions, and 19 years in jail

May 13: J&K government authorities have booked separatist leader Masarat Alam Bhat (45) in 49 cases since 1990 and 32 times under the Public Safety Act (PSA).
In most of these 49 cases, Alam has either been acquitted or bailed out by the courts. The time he has spent in different jails so far—from time to time—since 1990, is 19 years.
J&K government authorities have booked separatist leader Masarat Alam Bhat (45) in 49 cases since 1990 and 32 times under the Public Safety Act (PSA).
In most of these 49 cases, Alam has either been acquitted or bailed out by the courts. The time he has spent in different jails so far—from time to time—since 1990, is 19 years.
On May 2 this year, a court here granted bail to Alam in a sedition case of 2010 when he allegedly circulated a video asking forces personnel to leave Jammu and Kashmir.
	On October 30, 2012, Alam was booked under provisions of PSA for running the 2010 mass agitation when other top separatist leaders were caged. He was released after then Chief Minister Mufti Muhammad Sayeed took over as the Chief Minister of Jammu and Kashmir on 1 March 2015. However, his release sparked political storm in India after Indian media hyped his release, terming him as “threat to peace.”
After forty days of his release, the 45-year-old separatist leader was arrested under PSA on April 17, 2015 in Srinagar after he organized and led a rally to receive Hurriyat Conference (G) leader Syed Ali Geelani who had then returned from New Delhi.
Pakistani flags were allegedly waved in the rally, following which Chief Minister Mufti Muhammad Sayeed-led newly-formed PDP-BJP coalition government came under severe pressure from Delhi-based media for detaining Bhat. However, the court quashed the detention and ordered his release, but the authorities invoked another PSA on him to continue his detention in which he completed the term in jail. The consecutive third PSA was quashed by the court.
Alam was not released as authorities said he was wanted in some FIRs registered against him in 2010.
Presently, Alam is lodged in sub-jail Baramulla in north Kashmir in a case registered against him in police station Shaheed Gunj in 2010.
	Alam who is also the Chairman of the Jammu Kashmir Muslim League was detained under PSA for the first time on October 2, 1990.
He was released in November 1991. He was detained for second time in 1993 and released in February 1997.
On September 1997, he was detained third time for nearly three years and released in May 2000. He was detained for the fourth time in January, 2001 and released in August 2003.
	He was detained for the fifth time and was in detention till July 2005. Since 16 January 2008, he has been detained on nine occasions under the PSA.
 “Alam has been booked in 49 FIRs till date. Out of these 49 FIRs, courts have bailed out him in 35 cases and acquitted him in six cases. In rest of eight cases, he is facing trial in Srinagar court and one in Baramulla court. We are yet to move bail applications in these eight cases,” said Muhammad Rafiq Ganie, General Secretary of the Muslim League.
He said Alam has been lodged in different jails. “Alam was time and again detained under PSA on false or unreasonable grounds. He had been lodged in various jails including Kotbalwal, Sangroor Punjab, Udhampur, Rajouri, Kuthua, Central Jail Srinagar and Baramulla,” he said.
He said the total period spent by Alam in different jails till date is 19 years.
Sajad Ayoubi, ML spokesperson said courts have quashed PSAs on Alam almost every time.
“Out of 32 PSAs invoked against him, Alam completed the term in jail under detention orders six times and in six cases the authorities revoked PSA against him, but only to slap fresh ones on new grounds. In rest of the cases, the court quashed the detention orders,” he added. 
He said the State is hell-bent upon “punishing” Alam for ‘none of his fault.’ “There is no justification for the State to keep Bhat under custody when the High Court has quashed his PSA again. The move is political vendetta,” said Ayoubi.
 	“On the directions of government, now the police will find another false case against Bhat to justify his arrest. We strongly condemn his re-arrest,” he added.
Bhat’s formal induction into separatist politics happened in 1990 when he joined hands with Muhstaq-ul-Islam, a leading separatist along with Shakeel Ahmed Bakshi of the Islamic Students League. In 1990 Bhat joined the ranks of militant group Hizbullah founded by Mushtaq. But his romance with the gun lasted only two months as he was arrested. Three years after his release he co-founded Muslim League with Mushtaq.
Bhat was born in 1971 at Zaindar Mohalla, a mixed neighborhood of Muslims and Pandits, in Srinagar. Abdul Samad Bhat, his grandfather, was a rich cloth merchant.


Getting passport still lengthy process in Kashmir

May 19: Getting a passport in Kashmir still remains a lengthy and cumbersome job with the Ministry of External Affairs (MEA) revealing that only one percent of the total number of Police Verification (PV) requests, initiated by Regional Passport Office (RPO) Srinagar, was completed within the 21-day deadline.
Indicating that J&K is one of the worst performers in terms of time involved in carrying out the verification process, the MEA records clearly show that only one percent of passport verifications were cleared within the stipulated time.
	Under the MEA guidelines, the desired timeline for completion of such verifications is 21 days. Interestingly, at India level, 64 percent verification cases were cleared within the deadline.
	Moreover, J&K Police also failed to comply with the Public Service Guarantee Act (PSGA) under which the verification process is to be completed within two months.
	According to official documents, the average time taken for police verification in Kashmir was 109 days in 2015-16 which clearly reflects the government’s failure to implement the law.
	Under the PSGA, it is binding on the police to provide verification report for a passport applicant within 60 days. And in case there is no response, an applicant has the right to appeal before the designated authorities. On the other hand, at all-India level, the average time for completing verifications was just 32 days.
	According to the MEA, 25455 such verification reports were pending on March 31, 2016. Of these, 20808 verifications were pending for more than 21 days, it further states.
	Director General of Police, K Rajendra, said they were intending to use modern technology to fast-track the verification process.
	“The main problem is that the passport applicants are not physically present at the time of police verification. Now we plan to use technology for the process and communicate them in advance so that they (applicants) are available when our men go to their homes for verification,” he said.
	“Sometimes, we also face problems due to glitches in network.”
	The DGP admitted that the time for completion of verification process is still lengthy but added that “we are making efforts to bring it down.”
	Post-1989, thousands of people in Kashmir have been denied the travel document by the authorities citing security reasons. Even many Hajj aspirants too have been denied the document.

CID will verify ration cards, says minister

May 29: Next time when CID sleuths knock at your door, there is possibility that they would count your family members and verify all their credentials. The government explained that the sleuths would be sent to every household to check the antecedents of residents covered under National Food Security Act (NFSA). The state officials are busy in preparation of the final lists.
Addressing a public gathering at Potha Rajouri, minister for public distribution and consumer affairs Chowdhary Zulfikar Ali said that his department would get 100 percent accuracy certificate of (NFSA) lists following which these lists would be cross checked and verified by the CID.
He said it was core responsibility of deputy commissioners to make the lists error-free through fidelity checks.


MILITARIZATION
· 
· Govt. writes to Army: Is Tosamaidan free of explosives?
Authorities mulling to open meadow for tourists this season
May 01: Jammu and Kashmir Government has sought written assurances from Army on sanitization of Tosamaidan of unexploded explosive and artillery shells as State authorities plan to open the scenic meadow to tourists this year. The meadow, which witnessed at least 60 deaths in the past due to littered shells, was used as field firing range by Army for 50 years before vacating it in 2014.
Sources said the matter was discussed at a high level meeting chaired by Divisional Commissioner Kashmir Asgar Samoon earlier this year. The meeting was attended by senior officials from the Army.
The sources said although the Army has claimed to have cleared the meadow, located in central Kashmir’s Budgam district, of unexploded bombs and artillery shells, there was no written confirmation from their side.
District Commissioner Budgam, Mir Altaf, said the Forest Department had sought “clearance certificate” from the Army some time ago about sanitization of the meadow.
“There was no response from their (Army) side. I recently wrote to them (Army) on the issue again,” said the DC.    
After a month long agitation led by Save Tosamaidan Front in 2014, the Government had cancelled the lease of the meadow, located in the Pir Panjal forest range, to the Army. 
Of the 11200 hectares of land at Tosamaidan that were used by the forces for firing range, 1809 hectares were the ‘actual impact area’ while the remaining 9390 hectares were ‘safety zone.’
Tosamaidan, which was also called as “Meadow of Death” witnessed more than 60 civilian deaths in the explosion of littered shells in the past - the victims were mostly those living in the villages around the meadow who would take their cattle for grazing to the meadow.
· Army fails to vacate land for KU’s South Campus expansion
May 3: With the March 31 deadline over, the Army is yet to initiate the process of vacating 456 Kanals of land at High Ground in South Kashmir town.  
In a meeting chaired by Governor N N Vohra on March 18 in Jammu, the Army had agreed to vacate 456.60 Kanals out of the total 2005.24 Kanals of land held by it since early 1990s, by March 31.
General officer Commanding-in-Chief (GoC-in-C) Northern Command, Lt Gen DS Hooda had informed the Governor about the decision.
Earlier, former Chief Minister, late Mufti Muhammad Sayeed—while chairing Civil-Military Liaison (CML) Conference at SKICC Srinagar in September, 2015, had asked the Army to vacate the land at Fatehgarh area of High Ground required for expansion of 
Kashmir University’s South Campus as well as developing a new housing colony to de-congest the town. He had then set three month deadline for the same
 	“The process of handing over 456 Kanals of land to the district administration is yet to begin,” an official told media.
He said the district administration has taken up the matter with Army several times but the response has been cold.
“The patch of land is adjacent to South Campus in Fatehgarh area of High Ground and outside the ambit of 1 RR camp. They (Army) have, however, fenced the entire patch putting up barbed wire without paying rent to it,” the official added.
The 346.7 Kanals of land which was earlier also under Army occupation was transferred to the University authorities in 2004 during PDP-Congress government and Sayeed’s previous stint as CM.
However, during his visit to the campus in July last year, Sayeed had directed DC Anantnag to explore possibility of acquiring additional land for creating adequate infrastructure at KU’s South Campus
The civil society here has been pressing for establishing proposed medical college and technical colleges at the High Ground only.
 	“The government is yet to find suitable land for establishment of medical college and the vast High Ground could serve the purpose,” said Rao Farman Ali, spokesperson of South Kashmir Civil Society.
He said that 2000 Kanals of land from agricultural farm at Dialgam village, which government is mulling to take for establishing a medical college, is beyond one’s understanding,
“Why at all you would use agricultural farm when you have hundreds of Kanals at your disposal at High Ground near main town,” Farman opined.
Locals also asked government to expedite the process of taking possession of the land under Army’s control.
“Besides 456 Kanals for expansion of campus, the government should also get the remaining land vacated for setting up medical, engineering and polytechnic colleges in the town as well as building a cricket stadium,” residents of Kadipora and Sarnal area of town said.
“If the land is vacated, the erstwhile proposed Fatehgarh residential colony could be established,” they further said.
The revenue records available with the media suggest that 921.19 Kanals at Fatehgarh, 945.19 Kanals at Kheriman Donipawa and 139.03 Kanals at QasbaBaghat on the High Ground—total of 2005. 24 Kanals—is with Army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) since 1992.
The land in possession is property of Housing department, Shamilat, Khalisa Sarkar (state land) and proprietary land.
In Fatehgarh area of High Ground, Army is only paying rent to 467.14 Kanals of land acquired by it in Phase-I, however, in the rest 454.05 Kanals, acquired by it in the Phase-II, no rent is being paid and it is this portion which was to be vacated..
Similarly, no rent is being paid for the land under possession in KherimanDonipwa (945.02 Kanals) while it is being paid for QasbaBaghat (139.03 Kanals) land. The land under possession of Army in these two areas is mostly proprietary (orchards).
Meanwhile, orchard owners whose land in the Karevas of High Ground is with Army for last over two decades have reiterated their demand for vacation of their properties and sought compensation.  They say they have neither been compensated nor given any rent till date.
“We have suffered massive losses due to non-utilization of this land,” said the orchard owners.
Divisional Commissioner Kashmir, DrAsgharSamoon, admitted Army’s reluctance to vacate the portion of land at High Ground.
“The Army should live up to its promise and vacate the portion of land for expansion of University campus and setting up of a residential colony,” said Samoon.
	The Army’s Srinagar-based PRO, Lt Col NN Joshi, when contacted, said he will have to ascertain the status of the case.
· 25 YEARS ON, BANDIPORA TEHSIL OFFICE REMAINS UNDER CRPF OCCUPATION
Bandipora May 18: The tehsil office of Bandipora appears more like an army camp than an administrative office. For the past 25 years, soldiers have been manning the gates, barbed wire is spread from wall to wall, and army vehicles roam freely within.
The tehsil office at Bandipora was inaugurated in 1985 by Muhammad Kalil Jowhar, the animal and sheep husbandry minister at the time. After seven years of smooth functioning, the office premises, including washrooms, were occupied by the Border Security Force in 1992, the staff at the tehsil office said.
In 2004, the BSF handed over the buildings and the tehsil land to the Central Reserve Police Force’s 51 battalion, which continues to occupy, illegally, the tehsil office.
The current office functions from a dilapidated building that has also been occupied by central government forces. They have taken over the first storey of the building which holds a conference hall, and “they piss and drink there,” an employee requesting anonymity said.
The office staff say there are no toilets and washrooms at the premises for their use as they have been taken over by the paramilitary. An outcry from the employees came when, recently, the CRPF pushed the barbed wire further inside the tehsil premises to make space for their new guesthouse. The soldiers have also opened a new entrance for their vehicles just near the tehsil building gate.
Staffers also complained that the CRPF has erected concrete structures on the tehsil land.
The large 18-feet gate that the soldiers use for their motor vehicles remains restricted all day, forcing the staff and the public to squeeze through the two-foot door that only remains half-open.
“The illegal occupation of the new patch of land on which they have constructed a guesthouse, has been verbally approved by our deputy commissioner,” sources inside the office told media.
The women employees face a particularly tough time. “We are restricted inside this dark and ghostly building. We can’t have a break for fresh air as the soldiers roam freely,” an employee said. She also said the battalion had occupied the vehicle parking space.
Staffers want the many office buildings, which include patwar khana, the office of records, and the upper storey of the main building, as also the washrooms, to be free from the clutches of the CRPF.
“We have been shouting for years but no one pays heed to us,” the staff say.  Locals blame the administration for this hapless state. “The office that is supposed to free land from illegal encroachments has itself been encroached on. What can be more abject than that?” a local remarked.
· PDD pitches for CRPF removal from grid stations
May 14: Power Development Department (PDD) has taken an exception to deployment of paramilitary Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) at its grid stations and sought their replacement with the state police.
The PDD has written to the police that the force has recently withdrawn the security from the Awantipora gird station even when the area has seen a spate in militant incidents. 
A senior official said police withdrew the security cover at the Awantipora grid station last month and has not provided the security cover at other grid stations. 
“The PDD has particularly sought upgradation of security at its grid stations in South Kashmir,” he said.
The official said they have been forced to take CRPF cover at the Pampore grid station. “We lack the adequate police security at our grid station. CRPF men have been deployed at the Pampore grid station”.
He said five police men including a head constable were deployed at the Awantipora grid station but the security was withdrawn without giving any notice to the PDD.  
On May 8, three Hizbul Mujahideen militants were killed in an encounter with the forces in Panzgam village of Awantipora.
“We were not informed about the removal of security and have taken up the matter with the police top brass. We have been told that there was a shortage of police personnel and as such the security cover can’t be provided,’’ the official said.
Another government official said PDD has pitched for deployment of policemen at 12 grid stations in Kashmir,  which are currently under construction.  
He said presence of large number of CRPF personnel at the grid stations increases the risk for them due to which they have sought review of security of the vital grid stations of the PDD. 
The official said the need for police cover at the vital grid stations has been taken up by PDD top officials with the Administrative department. “It (matter) has also been brought to the notice of Home department”.  
Incharge DIG South Kashmir range, Ghulam Hassan Bhat, said security is the prerogative of the police and PDD has no role in it. 
“We can’t provide security at all grid stations and it is decided on the basis of security assessment,” he said.
Bhat said the Awantipora grid station is near the police station due to which there is no need for deploying additional security cover there. 
"The PDD should revive its chowkidari system rather than seek security for every grid station,” added the police officer.
· Govt asks CRPF to vacate Zainakote industrial land
May 14: Jammu and Kashmir government has asked the Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) to vacate the land of erstwhile Hindustan Machine Tools (HMT) factory in Zainakote Industrial Estate in Srinagar. The direction has come as Government of India has wound up the defunct factory.
After being entangled in litigations with HMT employees, the Government of India recently settled the issue and officially announced its winding up.
“Following this, the JK government approached the centre government to handover land measuring 527 kanals under HMT and also asked the CRPF to vacate the premises of the factory which have been occupied by them since 2010,”sources said.
Talking to media, Commissioner Secretary, Industries and Commerce, Shailendra Kumar said that the GOI has initiated process for returning the land of HMT to the state government.
“The removal of CRPF has been taken up with the Home department,” he added.
Minister of Industries and Commerce, Chander Prakash Ganga, said the government will decide about the utilization of the land after officially getting it back from Centre.
The Government of India had taken the land at Zainakote for establishing Hindustan Machine Tools factory. However, post turmoil the dwindling fortunes of the factory had made it a loss making venture, subsequently the central government was forced to close down production in the unit, and now it has been wound up.
The HMT watch factory was established on sprawling 527 kanals land in 1971. After the outbreak of militancy in 1990 and migration of outside workforce, the unit became defunct. A major portion of the factory land is under the occupation of CRPF since 2010.
“After the 2010 mass agitation in Kashmir, CRPF’s 44th battalion illegally occupied our factory premises and its major chunk of land without seeking any consent from our management,” said an official.
He said except the HMT Plant, everything including flats and land of the factory is under use of CRPF.
After the killing of 22-year-old local youth, Gowhar Nazir, by personnel of this camp on November 7 last year — the day Prime Minister Narendra Modi was in Srinagar to address a rally — the residents of the area are seeking removal of CRPF from the factory.
There are 15 buildings in the unit, with premises looking like a mini township. The factory was once bustling with activities and providing job to more than 1000 employees.
Managing Director, SICOP, R Tickoo said the Government of India has started auctioning of equipments in the factory premises. “Within a month, the factory premises will be taken back by the state government,” he informed.
· CRPF REFUSING TO VACATE SHER-I-KASHMIR UNIVERSITY LAND
May 18: The 92 battalion of the CRPF, which has occupied land in and around Sher-i-Kashmir University of Agricultural Science & Technology (SKUAST), located in Sopore area of Baramulla district, is refusing to vacate the land even after another site has been readied for it.
The university authorities have moved from pillar to post in the past 20 years but nothing, it seems, can move the soldiers who are occupying almost 300 kanals of land in and around the prestigious university.
Most of the 300 kanals of land occupied by the CRPF 92 battalion has been taken over by the government for a sheep farm project. Had the battalion vacated the land and the government begun the project, it would have been the biggest sheep farming industry in north Kashmir.
During the 90’s the Border Security Force’s 124 battalion occupied the 300 kanals of land in and around the university campus. After the BSF went away, the CRPF took over the land and is still there, budging not an inch in 20 years.
Media quoting its sources, that the CRPF has been dilly-dallying on moving to a new facility, which has been created for them in Police Lines Handwara. The said facility has been ready for the past two years. The soldiers have resisted all efforts to relocate and are playing hide-and-seek with the local administration, which seems unable to get the university land vacated.
Mohd Yousuf Zargar, Dean of SKUAST, says that the presence of paramilitary in the immediate vicinity of the educational institution has led to several problems. The battalion’s presence and movement interferes in the functioning of the university, restricts the free movement of locals and disturbs their lifestyle, apart from creating a sense of fear. The SKUAST has a major research facility and needs to interact with locals and study their livestock on a regular basis. Also, the theft of the university’s electricity by the battalion has become a common phenomenon. Even after complaining to the commanding officer, this theft continues.
Students and faculty of SKUAST resisted when a part of the university campus was encroached upon by paramilitary soldiers. For a long time, the students and teachers had to produce identity cards if they even ventured near some areas of their own campus.
Locals, too, are aghast at the presence of the CRPF camp. “They (CRPF) have occupied part of our agricultural land. We are reluctant to leave our houses during late hours. The presence of additional troopers who came from Bomai (after an episode in 2009, when two young men were gunned down by army troops at Bomai in Sopore town) has added to the nuisance. Our women feel afraid to come to the fields,” said Ghulam Nabi, a farmer in the area.
When contacted, the sub-district magistrate of Sopore, Bashir Ahmad, said that it was not his decision to make. “The concerned ministry (home ministry) should take the decision of vacating the land occupied by CRPF near Sher-i-Kashmir University, if the infrastructure has already been provided for them at some other place,” the officer said.

JK properties outside: ‘1381 kanal land under illegal occupation’

May 27: Government of Jammu and Kashmir admitted that a huge chunk of land and immovable properties of the State at New Delhi, Amritsar, Chandigarh and Haryana are under unauthorized occupation, but said steps have been taken by the Department of Hospitality and Protocol to reclaim and retrieve these properties at an earliest.
Minister of Hospitality and Protocol in response to the query raised by National Conference legislator Ali Muhammad Sagar informed the Legislative Assembly that out of total 1404 kanals of state property outside Jammu and Kashmir, only 23 kanals of land are in State possession while all but 1381 kanals of land have been illegally occupied by private and government parties including Ministry of Defence Government of India.
The government, according to local news agency CNS, said the State has properties at Rajaji Marg New Delhi (114 kanals 11.2 marlas), Chandigarh (7 kanals, 10.6 marlas), Daim Gunj Tapai Road Amritsar (32 kanals, 9 marlas) and Sisra Haryana (1251 kanals, 4 marlas).
 	“Out of 114 kanals and 11.2 marlas, the land measuring 96 kanals known as Kashmir House, Rajaji Marg is under occupation of the Ministry of Defence Government of India from 1946. The State Government is vigorously pursuing the matter to restore the State property from the Defence Ministry by raising the issue before Northern Zonal Council and concerned Ministry from time to time,” the government stated.
The Government further stated that 1 kanal and 6.8 marlas of property has been occupied by Ministry of Labour Employment Government of India at Chandigarh. “The rights of the said property will be obtained as soon as the under construction complex of Labour Ministry will be completed.”
 	“The State Government has 32 kanals and 9 marlas of land at Daim Gunj, Tapai Road Amritsar which is presently under unauthorized occupation of family members of the original lease holders. Three eviction suits were filed for the retrieval of the said land out of which two suits for the land measuring 29 kanals and 14 marlas have been decreed by the Court in favour of Jammu and Kashmir.”
	According to the State Government it has 1251 kanals and 4 marlas of land at Mirpur Sirsa, Haryana as per Revenue records. “This land is under unauthorized occupation of ‘Bajwa Brothers’ to whom the land was initially leased out for 5 year from 1957 to 1962. They managed to transfer its ownership in favour of Mirpur Cooperative Society by an order dated 2/4/1986 passed by Assistant Collector, 1st Class District Revenue Officer, Sirsa. Since a revision petition filed by the State has been dismissed by the Commissioner Hissar in January 2012, a writ petition vide number CWP 1653-2014 titled State of J&K vs State of Haryana and others has been filed at Chandigarh for seeking restoration of land to the government of Jammu and Kashmir. As per latest information of Resident Representative Chandigarh, the matter was argued by M.L. Saggar on the issue applicability of article 131 of the Constitution of India. In this regard Punjab and Haryana Court was pleased to issue notice of motion on 16 January 2015. The case is subjudice and the next date of hearing of the said case is on 17 July 2016 this year.”
	Pertinently at Mumbai, land measuring 5,802 Square Yards at Napean Sea Road, is on lease with M/s Sanghvi Construction Company, Mumbai for 90 years with effect from 1 June 1991. The land has been leased out at a meager rate as compared to market value.

Militants ‘overpower’ cops, snatch four rifles

May 08: Suspected militants snatched four rifles and six magazines from the policemen guarding the minority community in Kulgam district.
Four suspected militants at around 3am last night barged into the minority police post in Adijan village and snatched rifles from all the four cops guarding some families of Rajput community.
They said that as per the version of the policemen who were on duty at the post, the militants asked them to surrender and then fled away with their rifles.
A top police official posted in the district, however, blamed the policemen for negligence due to which the militants succeeded in snatching the rifles.
“The policemen say militants overpowered them. But had they been alert and vigilant militants won’t have succeeded,” the police officer told media.
He said that police has registered case against both the militants and the policemen.
“The policemen have also been detained and investigations taken up,” the officer said.
He identified the cops as Bashir Ahmad, Firdos Ahmad, Nisar Ahmad and Mushtaq Ahmad.
2016:
February 22: Unidentified persons snatch an SLR from police personnel at Bari Brahmana, Samba
January 13: Constable Shakoor Ahmed Parrey fled away with four AK-47 rifles from SDPO in Bijbehara. Shakoor, a resident of Kundalan in Shopian District, was posted as a Personal Security Officer to SDPO Bijbehara, Irshad Ahmad Bhat. Shakoor was later arrested and two rifles were recovered
2015:
September 11: Three suspected militants sprayed chili powder at constable identified as Mohammad Zahid, posted at the District Court Kulgam, before fleeing with his INSAS rifle.
May 16: Unidentified persons snatched a service rifle fired upon a police man and in southern Shopian district.
May 13: Unidentified youth with a rifle from a police post in district Ganderbal.
May 11: Unidentified gunmen fled with a service rifle of one the two CRPF killed personnel in Sangam area on the Srinagar-Jammu highway.

Kashmir’s 45% adults mentally distressed: Survey

May 19: Around 1.8 million people in Kashmir, accounting for nearly 45 percent of the valley's adult population, show significant symptoms of mental distress, a survey by 'Médecins Sans Frontières' has said.
	Of these, 1.6 million adults (41 percent) in the valley are living with symptoms of depression, with 4,15,000 meeting the diagnostic criteria for severe depression.
	"An estimated one million adults (26 percent) in the valley are living with significant symptoms of anxiety-related disorders," said the survey.
The study by the medical humanitarian organisation 'Médecins Sans Frontières' or Doctors Without Borders was done in collaboration with the Department of Psychology, Kashmir University, and the Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences (IMHANS) in Kerala.
	The survey said nearly one in five (19 percent) adults in Kashmir is living with significant PTSD (Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder) symptoms, representing 7,71,000 individuals, with 2,48,000(6 percent) meeting the diagnostic criteria for PTSD.
	"This survey provides, for the first time, an insight into the level of mental distress in all 10 districts of the Kashmir Valley," says DrTambriHousen, MSF’s principal researcher.
	He said the data will come in handy to work with key stakeholders and mental health experts to tailor healthcare services to the needs of the Kashmir residents.
	The survey covered 5,428 households in 399 villages across 10 districts and was complemented by a series of in-depth focus group discussions.
	According to the survey, communities have little knowledge of mental health services and viewed the management of mental illness largely through socio-cultural and biomedical models.
	The survey emphasised employment generation, decentralisation of services, community awareness programmes, early detection and availability of medical services for improved mental health.
	"One crucial outcome of the focus group discussions held in each district was a clear gap in accessibility to mental health services. The main barrier to treatment included lack of awareness of available mental health services. Other commonly mentioned obstacles included distance, travel time and associated costs," said a MSF statement.

GoI Directs Monitoring Of Harassment Of Kashmiri Students Studying Outside

Oct 19: Government of India (GoI) has directed Jammu and Kashmir government to regularly follow the complaints of harassment of Kashmiri students studying outside with the concerned state governments. In the directive issued by Union Ministry of Home Affairs (MHA), J&K government has been asked to regularly take up the cases of harassment of the Kashmiri students with the concerned Director Generals of Police (DGPs) and Chief Secretaries (CSs) of state governments. The MHA has directed the J&K Home Department and police to regularly follow the complaints. The (GoI) has also conveyed the names of Nodal Officers, who have been designated by different states to look into the complaints. 'We have asked the DGP and Chief Secretary to regularly take a feedback from the concerned state governments about the progress of complaints,' said a top official of MHA. He said all states have not designated Nodal Officers and matter has been taken up with them. 'We are pursuing the matter of designation of the Nodal Officers with different states and the mechanism of probing the complaints will be fully in place in a week's time,' the MHA official said. The directive to the state government comes after the cases of harassment of the Kashmiri students outside the State. Principal Secretary Home, R K Goyal, confirmed that MHA has written to the state government over the issue. He said the steps are being taken to ensure security of the students studying outside the state. In March this year four Kashmiri students were beaten up in a private university in Rajasthan over rumors that they were cooking beef in their hostel room. After being attacked, they were arrested by the police for 'disturbing peace'. The incident took place at Mewar University in Chittorgarh, about five hours from state capital Jaipur. The Kashmiri students were also attacked in Mohali and Chandigarh and political parties including the Congress had taken a strong note of this. Former Chief Minister and Opposition leader in Rajya Sabha, Ghulam Nabi Azad, had taken up the issue with Punjab CM, Prakash Singh Badal. 'The concerns about the safety of students are in the wake of the fact that a large number of students from J&K are studying outside the state under the Prime Minister's Scholarship Scehme (PMSS),' said an official.

City higher secondary schools asked to send students on army tour

May 20: The school education department Kashmir has asked principals of higher secondary schools in Srinagar to shortlist meritorious male students for an army-sponsored Sadbhavana (goodwill) tour commencing next month.
The move came after the army requested the department to send higher secondary school students on Sadbhavana tour.
Each school has been asked to select three meritorious students for the tour to several Indian cities, Pune.
Twenty students from city higher secondary schools will be sent to the tour, chief education officer Srinagar Arif Iqbal Malik said.
He said he has written letters to principals of the higher secondary schools for the same.
“In next few days the list will be finalised and accordingly the students will have an opportunity to avail free of cost tour to Pune in June,” he told media.
He said the 10-day tour will be as good as the last year’s “Pariyoon ka Parvaaz (flight of fairies)” tour, which comprised 20 girl students and two teachers to various Indian cities. The tour had generated controversy.
Since 2014-15, the continuity of such tours has not broken, Malik said.
“I welcome all those who give such a chance to students to travel across India. I cash in on such opportunities. We are in the process to select the students now,” he added.
On May 17, an army team led by an officer visited the MP Higher Secondary School at Bagh-e-Dilawar Khan in Srinagar and asked the principal that the army can sponsor 100 boys for the tour.
The principal, however, refused. Later in the day the education department sent a letter to the principal and asked him to nominate students.
On May 20, the army officer again visited the school for selecting students only to be told that the principal has been transferred.
“The officer left the school premises because there was no authority that could sanction such selection,” a lecturer said on condition of anonymity.
Indian army stands accused of countless human rights abuses and is seen by the majority of people as an army of occupation. It has been organising medical camps, cricket tournaments, ‘national integration educational tours’ to various Indian cities and other activities to “win hearts and minds” of Kashmiris. These activities have been sharply criticised by the resistance groups.
Director school education Kashmir Shah Faesal said there is no harm in “constructive engagement” with the army as they “share the burden of the department”.
“Army is a very important institution and they are sharing the burden of the department by organising Bharat Dharshan under Sadbhavana. Other departments such as police, NGOs and others are also helping in sharing the burden of the department,” said Faesal, adding, “You have to see it holistically, not merely an individual institution.”

‘Won’t return projects; won’t share profits; won’t increase 12% share’

May 21: In a set back to the State Government, Union Power Minister PiyushGoyal on May 20 ruled out transfer of power projects from National Hydroelectric Power Corporation (NHPC) to J&K while opposing increase in the State’s power share from Corporation-run projects in J&K. The Minister refused granting a share from profits earned by the Corporation from its projects in J&K to the State Government, saying no State can be given a “special category.”
“Every State puts forward lot of demands to the Center but the demands can’t be translated into decisions. The NHPC is operating in different States and there can’t be a separate discussion on it (demand for transfer of power projects from NHPC to J&K),” said Goyal, who is Union Minister of State for Power (Independent Charge), in response to a question on J&K Government’s demands for return of two power projects from NHPC.
The Minister was addressing media in eight different States through video conference from New Delhi to highlight the achievements of his ministry on completion of two years of BJP government in Centre. In Srinagar, the conference was organized by Press Information Bureau at NIC centre in District Commissioner’s office.
The Minister’s statement contradicts the PDP-BJP Government’s “Agenda of Alliance” which talks about exploring modalities for transfer of Corporation-owned 390-MW Dulhasti and 480-MW Uri hydro power projects to J&K, securing a share in the profits of NHPC emanating from J&K waters to the State Government and revising all agreements with the Corporation.
	The return of power projects to J&K was one of the main demands raised by the PDP when it held negotiations with the BJP earlier this year over Government formation in Jammu and Kashmir.
To a question on the State Government’s demand for increase in the power share from NHPC-run power projects to 25 percent from the present 12 percent, the Minister said the Corporation has fixed 12 percent power share to the States where it runs the projects and it also provides a percentage of power (2 percent) to the local areas where the projects have been set up.
“This (12 percent power share) is the policy existing across India and there can’t be separate discussion on the demand (from J&K),” said the Minister.
The State Government has also been seeking a share in profits earned by the Corporation from its project in J&K. The Union Minister turned down this demand also.
“Share in profit of the Corporation is for the stakeholders. There can be no separate profit share for separate States. No State can have a special category in share of the profits from the Corporation-owned hydropower projects,” the Minister said.
	The Minister however said the State would benefit from the Chenab Valley Power Projects Private Limited (CVPPPL), a joint venture between State owned Power Development Corporation, NHPC, and PTC, which would be developing three power projects worth 2100 MW on Chenab basin. The share of PDC, NHPC and PTC in the CVPPPL is 49, 49 and 2 percents respectively.
On T&D and AT&CL in JK:
The Minister said the transmission losses of around 50 percent in J&K was a “grave concern”.
	“There are many factors responsible for the losses in Jammu and Kashmir and these factors create hurdle in minimizing these losses. The State Government is however working to improve the situation,” he said.
The Minister said Government of India was very serious to address the issue of power deficit in J&K and asked people to “cooperate in paying power bills.”
	“There is no dearth of power but the people of J&K should pay for the power they consume and then only the losses can be brought down. Somebody should act as whistle blower to expose those people in the society, corporations, factories… who resort to power thefts,” the Minister said.

Gitmo-type prison to be built in Srinagar

May 27: India’s home ministry has asked the J&K government to build a high-security prison in Srinagar like the one at Guantanamo Bay in Cuba to house convicted terrorists from Pakistan and those facing trial in terror cases, The Telegraph newspaper reported on May 27.
The separate, specialised prison is meant to confine terror convicts and undertrials away from ordinary prisoners as there are fears that they may indoctrinate and radicalise them.
The Telegraph newspaper quoted home ministry sources as saying that the decision to set up a separate prison in Srinagar was taken recently and it was communicated to chief minister Mehbooba Mufti, who agreed to it.
“The J&K government has agreed to the Centre’s proposal and asked for Rs 7 crore last month to build a separate jail exclusively for terrorists like the one in Guantanamo,” a source in the Union home ministry told The Telegraph newspaper.
The report came a day after a court in Kashmir’s Budgam criticised state police for the “extra-judicial detention” of separatist leader Masarat Alam and said a situation like “Abu Ghraib (the Iraqi prison where atrocities were committed by US soldiers) and Guantanamo cannot be tolerated in India.”
A senior home ministry official was quoted as saying that a report from security agencies had warned that terror convicts and suspects lodged in the jails in Jammu and Kashmir were a “big threat” even inside the jails as they could radicalise petty criminals.
“The security agencies had cited some examples where ordinary criminals joined terror outfits after being radicalised by terrorists inside jails,” the official said.
According to data with the Union home ministry, over 28 Pakistanis accused in terror cases are lodged in various jails across Jammu and Kashmir.
An Intelligence Bureau official recalled how the Narendra Modi government in Gujarat had wanted to build a jail exclusively for terrorists when he was chief minister there.
“In 2010, the Gujarat government had mooted a proposal to set up a new jail near Gandhinagar. Then Gujarat home minister Amit Shah had said if terror convicts and ordinary convicts shared the same prison, there was a chance that the ordinary convicts could become potential sleeper cells for terror groups,” the IB official said.	
According to home ministry sources, a proposal is being considered to request all state governments to build separate high-security prisons away from cities to house convicted terrorists and terror suspects.
Last year, the home ministry had asked state governments to install adequate CCTV cameras and mobile-phone jammers inside jails and monitor high-risk prisoners, especially those convicted in terrorism cases, round the clock.
	Sources said terror convicts in Delhi’s Tihar jail were always kept in solitary confinement in a high-security ward and they were never allowed to mingle with other prisoners.

59 persons booked under PSA in last 5 months

May 29: Despite the concern expressed by various human rights organisations about its arbitrary use, the state authorityes continue to use Public Safety Act (PSA) against separatists and suspects.
As many as 59 persons have been booked under the law in the last five months alone, according to official figures compiled by Jammu and Kashmir police. Last year, 77 persons were booked under the law. The average of PSA cases per month has been on the higher side this year.


Officially stated
· 
· NO PLANS TO REVOKE AFSPA IN KASHMIR:  MOS
May 11: Replying to a question in the Rajya Sabha, Minister of State for Home Affairs Haribhai Parathibhai Chaudhary said that government has no plans to revoke AFSPA.
"No, sir," Chaudhary said in reply to a written question by PDP RajyaSabha MP Nazir Ahmed Laway about revocation of AFSPA from Jammu and Kashmir and Northeastern states, local newsgathering agency KNS said.
Chaudhary said the government has not received any information from its sources about conducive atmosphere prevailing in the states for lifting AFSPA.
· No exclusive Pandit township, just normal housing: Govt.
May 19: The state government denied setting up separate or exclusive townships for Pandits. The proposed housing would be “normal habitation” where Pandits along with other state subjects can live, the government’s spokesman said.
Education minister Naeem Akhtar told reporters that land would be made available for housing where Pandits or people from Jammu can come to reside. “We will make land available where both Pandits and Jammu Dogras can come and live. It will be normal habitation as good as any other place. If you have any alternative to it, we will consider it,” Akhtar said.
Proposals for setting up a Sainik Colony, a Pandit township, and a new industrial policy have united pro-freedom groups, who have warned of a 2008-like agitation that erupted over transfer of land to the Amarnath shrine board.
Akhtar said that such an agitation would not resolve anything. He said the “consensus” between pro-India parties and pro-freedom groups over such issues is a moment to “rejoice”.
“Our friends and elders say they will create a 2008-like situation. Is that the solution? There are many positives in the proposals and we have come together to talk about things that are of concern to all of us,” he said.
“It is time to rejoice that there is a consensus. Our concerns and (Syed Ali) Geelani sahib’s concerns are the same,” he said.
	Akhtar also appealed to the pro-freedom camp to suggest how to bring back Pandits with dignity and honour.
· Have you forgotten 1947: Minister tells Jammu Muslim farmers
May 20: Forest Minister Choudhary Lal Singh sparked another controversy by reportedly telling a deputation of Muslim farmers from Jammu “have you forgotten 1947”.
According to an eyewitness, Mohammed Mumtaz, a sarpanch, a deputation of farmers including Hindus and Muslim community members approached Lal Singh at his official residence at Gandhi Nagar, Jammu on May 18.
“We went to his official residence to apprise him about the problems being facing by people after an order issued by the Forest Department,” he said.
The eyewitness said when they raised the issue, the minister shouted, “O Gujron, 1947 pulligaya hai tuse ge (Gujjars have you forgotten 1947. Why have you come here?”
Year 1947 is known as darkest period in the history of sub-continent as over 3 to 4 lakhs Muslims of Jammu were killed by communal forces.
	Mumtaz said one of the Hindu farmers, Rashpal Sharma, who was also part of the deputation, tried to inform Minister that they were farmers and had come from Udhampur to highlight some problem faced by the farming community.
“But he too faced anger of the minister. Lal Singh reportedly told him to return back to the place where from he has come,” the eyewitness said.
He said the minister instead of listening to them used abusive language against them.
Mumtaz said they had approached the minister because they were not being allowed to cut wood or trees on the private land and they wanted to seek permission from him.
“But unfortunately he did not listen to the delegation,” he said.
Feeling disrespected and threatened, the Muslims today approached Gandhi Nagar Police Station with a written complaint seeking registration of FIR against the Forest Minister for his remarks on 1947.
SHO Gandhi Nagar, Bishnesh Kumar told media that they have received a complaint from a deputation of people (Gujjars).
Mumtaz said the complaint among others was filed by Mohammed Hussain, Ghulam Haider, Mohammed Shafi, Mohammed Yousaf, Ghulam Ali, Mushtaq Ahmed, Bashir Ahmed, Nazim Malik, and Showkat Ali, who were part of the delegation that met Lal Singh.
Lal Singh has also faced severe criticism from the doctors for his rude behavior when he was Health Minister.
Meanwhile, Forest Minister Lal Singh denied that he made any comments to the delegation of people, who had visited his residence in Jammu.
“I never made any comment which would hurt the sentiments of any community,” he said adding “I always entertain people, who call on me”. 
Singh said the allegations were baseless and he would do anything to protect interest of the general public.
“I was speaking to my Gujjar brothers in Dogri about the increasing temperature. I don’t know what issue has come up and why do they want to make issue out of nothing,” he said.
	Singh said the forest protection is his top most priority and he won’t allow any element to play politics over it.
· Militants are coming, we are killing: GOC Kilo Force
May 25:  The GOC of Kilo Force, headquarters of the Rashtriya Rifles units in Kupwara and Baramulla, General Jarkin Gamlin on May 25 said that militants were infiltrating into Kashmir every year and the Kilo Force was eliminating them.
General Gamlin was talking to reporters here in Rafiabad area of Baramulla after the inaugural function of Chinar 9 Jawan Club in Tragpora. He said that eliminating infiltrators was “a routine process along the borders and in other areas.”
“Every successful operation is achievement for the army, and each successful operation is increasing the power of the army,” the general said.
· Army can't operate in civilian areas without special law: Manohar Parrikar
May 29: The Indian Army cannot operate in civilian areas without a contentious act that gives it sweeping special powers, Defence Minister Manohar Parrikar has said, amid demands from several quarters that the act be revoked from Jammu and Kashmir and the northeastern states where it is in operation. 
"My department's role comes into the picture when the army is asked to proceed and act in a certain area. At that time, the army requires protection," Parrikar told IANS in an interview, referring to the Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA) that is in place in what are termed "disturbed areas". 
Asked about the possibility of revoking the AFSPA, the defence minister said that the subject came under the home ministry, adding it was needed by the army to "proceed and act" in certain areas. He also said immunity to soldiers should be total. 
The minister stressed that the army will not go in the civilian areas without the act being in place. 
"If that act is not there, the army will not take action. For carrying out counter terror operations, the army requires that power. That power comes from such laws; AFSPA is a major one," he said. 
"If that is not there, the army will not go to a civilian area for operations. The home ministry should decide on the basis of that, after assessing the situation," Parrikar maintained. 
"If the army is required, this act has to be there; otherwise the army cannot operate. Jawans cannot be made to face standard laws," he contended. 
Meanwhile, in a written reply in the Rajya Sabha during the recently-concluded budget session, Minister of State for Home Haribhai Parthibhai Chaudhary said there were no plans to revoke AFSPA from Jammu and Kashmir.
· 4125-member strong VDC force can’t be disbanded: Govt
May 29: Jammu and Kashmir government said that the Village Defence Committees (VDCs) can’t be disbanded due to the prevailing security situation in the state.        
	Minister for Public Works and Parliamentary Affairs Abdul Rehman Veeri today said there are 4125 Village Defence Committee (VDC) members in the state. 	
	He said that it is not feasible to wind-up the scheme at this stage owing to the security situation and the role played by VDCs in the State.
	Replying to a question of Dr S Bashir Ahmad Veeri, the Minister said the objective of the Village Defence Group Scheme is to ensure safety and security of the identified villages along the borders and also to supplement the ongoing efforts of the security forces/police to deal with militancy, acts of subversion and trans-border movements.
	He said the scheme is voluntary in nature and no remuneration is being paid to the members of the VDCs.
	Veeri said, as per the scheme, a VDC should comprise the members from amongst the ex-servicemen and ex-policemen, available in the village and able bodied young men, who have proficiency in handling of weapons and are prepared to contribute towards the welfare of the community and security of the village, adding that the scheme does not provide that Members of the VDC should be from one community only.  
	The Minister said 14 militants were killed or caught by VDCs members in various districts of Jammu division.


	DATE
	TROOPERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS

	May 01
	-
	-
	-

	May 02
	-
	-
	-

	May 03
	-
	-
	-

	May 04
	-
	-
	-

	May 05
	-
	-
	-

	May 06
	1
	-
	-

	May 07
	-
	3
	-

	May 08
	-
	-
	-

	May 09
	-
	-
	-

	May 10
	-
	-
	-

	May 11
	1
	-
	-

	May 12
	-
	-
	-

	May 13
	-
	-
	-

	May 14
	-
	-
	-

	May 15
	-
	-
	-

	May 16
	-
	1(ex flitrater)
	1

	May 17
	-
	2
	-

	May 18
	-
	-
	-

	May 19
	-
	-
	-

	May 20
	-
	-
	-

	May 21
	-
	5
	-

	May 22
	1
	-
	-

	May 23
	3
	2
	-

	May 24
	-
	-
	-

	May 25
	1
	-
	1

	May 26
	-
	2
	-

	May 27
	1
	4
	-

	May 28
	-
	-
	-

	May 29
	-
	-
	-

	May 30
	-
	-
	-

	May 31
	-
	-
	-

	Total
	8
	19
	2

	
	
	
	



CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS
May 01: No incident of violence reported.
May 02: A 26-year-old youth was injured in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district when a hand grenade he found in a local drain exploded. The injured was identified as Riyaz Ahmad Khan resident of Kakarpati village of Dewar Lolab, Kupwara.
May 03: No incident of violence reported.
May 04: No incident of violence reported.
May 05: No incident of violence reported.
May 06: A soldier was killed in an encounter with militants in Keran sector of Kupwara district. In another incident, three cops were injured when militants attacked the police with a hand grenade in Chadoora area of Budgam district. 
May 07: Three militants were killed with troops in an encounter with forces in Panzgam village in Awantipora during the intervening night of May 6 and 7. The slain militants were identified as Ishfaq Hamid Dar s/o Abdul Hamid Dar of Dogripora, Haseeb Ahmad pal s/o Ghulam Mohammad Pal of Braw Bandina, Awantipora and Ishfaq Baba s/o Ghulam Qadir Baba of Tahab.   
May 08:  A shut down of observed in most parts of Pulwama district against the killing of three militants in an encounter with troops on May 7. 
May 09: No incident of violence reported.
May 10: No incident of violence reported.
May 11: An army soldiers died after he slipped into a gorge during an encounter in Rajwara forests of Handwara in district Kupwara. In another incident, police driver injured when militants hurled a hand grenade in Anantnag township of south Kashmir. 
May 12: No incident of violence reported. 
May 13: Incidents of stone pelting between protests and state forces took place in Safa Kadal area of Srinagar district.  
May 14: No incident of violence reported.
May 15: No incident of violence reported.
May 16: Unidentified gunmen shot dead a carpenter in Qaimoh area of south Kashmir’s Kulgam district. The deceased was identified as Manzoor Ahmad Pala, 36, son of Abdul Gani of Batpora-Wanpora village. In another incident police claimed a youth died after he fell from a hillock and two others were arrested from Saujiyan forests near LOC in Poonch while they were trying to ex-flitrate in to PAK. The deceased was identified Bilal Ahmad of Baramulla, while the arrested were identified as Musleen Rashid and Adil Ahmad both residents of Pulwama district. 
May 17: Two militants were killed in two encounters at two different places. A HM militant was killed while his associate managed to escape the army cordon in Pahlipora village of Shopian district. The slain militant was identified as Farooq Sheikh r/o Nazneenpora, Shopian. In another encounter with army an unidentified militant was killed in north Kashmir’s Kupwara district.  
May 18: At least 15 people, including eight policemen, were injured in clashes between stone-pelting students and cops in Ganderbal district of Kashmir, police said. A group of students indulged in stone-pelting near the mini secretariat in Ganderbal town to protest against the alleged “insensitivity” of traffic police which had stopped a passenger vehicle carrying large number of students in the morning, a police official said. 
May 19: No incident of violence reported. 
May 20: No incident of violence reported. 
May 21: Five militants were killed and two soldiers suffered injuries in an encounter that took place in Check village of Kupwara district.  However, the villagers and the house owner who house was razed to ground doubt that the encounter was genuine. The people alleged that no militant was present in the house when army fired at it. The people further alleged that even the police was not allowed to go close to the house by the army.  While, restrictions were imposed in downtown Srinagar to foil the proposed march of Hurriyat Conference (M) to commemorate the death anniversaries of two of its leaders. 
May 22: Army spokesman said that the soldier critically injured in encounter in Kupwara succumbed to his injuries. In this encounter army claimed it had killed five foreign militants, the encounter claim disputed by the people.  
May 23: Three police men were killed in two separate incidents in Srinagar. The first militant attack in which two policemen were killed took place at Mill Stop in Zadibal in Srinagar down town while another attack in which a police man dies took place at Tengpora, Srinagar. In a different incident police claimed two militants were killed in Sariabala area of Srinagar. One of the slain militant was identified by police as Saifullah of Pakistan associated with Jamait-ul-Mujahideen while about the other police said he too was a Pakistani national.  
May 24: Sariabala area, where two persons police claimed were foreign militants, killed by the SOG police on May 23 evening, observed shut down and protests against the killings. 
May 25: A policeman was shot dead and another got injured by suspected militants in Munghama village in Pulwama district. In another incident, an army porter identified as Liyaqat Joo of Waderbala, Handwara was killed.  
May 26: Two unidentified militants, army claimed, were killed while foiling a major infiltration bid in Nowgam sector of Kupwara district. Kashmir valley observed strike against government plan of setting up Sainik colonies and clusters for Kashmir Pandits on call given by pro-freedom leadership. 
May 27:  Four militants and a soldier were killed in two separate encounters in north Kashmir. Two unidentified militants and army soldier of 35 RR were killed in an encounter in Nowgam area of Handwara taking the Nowgam encounter toll to four militants. In another encounter at Kunzer area of Tangmarg two militants, army claimed, were killed and  in an encounter. The slain militants were identified as Mehraj-ud-Din Bhat son of Ghulam Mohammad Bhat of Andergam, Pattan and Adil Ahmad Mir son of Mohammad Sultan Mir of Brath Kalan, Sopore. Both were associated with HM. 
May 28: No incident of violence reported.
May 29: No incident of violence reported.
May 30: No incident of violence reported. 
May 31: No incident of violence reported. 
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